

Shooting 1975

Saturday 11 October 14

mostly sunny, breezy
cool - 67° high
3:00 - 5:30 2½ hrs.

yearling cock: lost tailfeathers, chocolate ruff
crop: empty (shot 3:15 pm.)

Fat Morris Thoms

scored 1-1
1 shot - 1 hit

Brian: 1 kill
1 ret.

Brian's seventh season, and after last year I don't see how he could be better, (possibly excepting that ~~one~~ ~~bad~~ thing he has about prolonging retrieves on grouse!) Today we started the season with Kay, unlike last year, and selected the Thoms as our best place. It was lovely - the mountains are at screaming peak color - and we didn't see or hear a hunter.

Hunting all the brow above "Lake Noël," we had reached the little draw above the old farmhouse site and I was ahead of Kay on the old road. A sudden movement within feet of my head alerted me to a grouse fluttering back from Brian and, exclaiming "There's a grouse!" I turned and fired as the bird zoomed with no apparent wingbeats over a gap in the trees behind and disappeared. Hope made me try to see it flutter or falter but it went out of view.

This season I am determined to take misses without question and I remembered several times that I think I had probably had I

George Bird Evans Papers

West Virginia and Regional History Center

(2)

couldn't change facts. We were to follow, going over the top of the rise then some cuttings and bulldozer tracks - improvement in cover - and worked the area rather carefully where the bird could have landed. Growing up, we circled down toward the road and the general area of the shot. I had forgotten my whistle at this first time out and was pleased that Brian was responding well to my lip-whistle, something I've been lax about using. But now he seemed to ignore me, and we could hear his bell trilling more and more far too long. We had the electronic collar on him but hadn't needed it, but I was almost going to ask Kay to touch ^{him} when I heard her voice with that wonderful excitement in it: "Brian has the grouse!!"

There he was - carrying the bird up the slope then thick thorn and sapling cover, then, when he was close enough, in his judgment, he laid it on the ground and lay down beside it. How lovely life can be! Kay got set with movie and 35 mm cameras and I ordered Brian to fetch, but the rascal gave us the treatment until Kay went to him and he put on a show of ferocity. In the end, he brought it partway but I had to take him by the collar, which got fast results, and he finally sat and held the bird indefinitely for Kay's movies and six still shots. The grouse was a beautiful chocolate brown, a yearling but large with all but a third of its tail feathers missing.

(3)

was broken - possibly the only hit? - and undoubtedly Brian
found and caught it running. How a domestic retriever like that can
wash away the sting of a miss!



FIRST SHOT
OF THE SEASON

It's no easy to tell if Brian had a point on the bird. The action
took place fifteen minutes after we started and it was the only bird
we sawed - I hope not the only one there. We crossed the glade after
lunch, then cut back to the thorns in the bottom - almost no haw
on them this season - and fought our way thru. beat-over thicket,
the result of last December's heavy snow. Back to the little Ponds its
first hunt - at about 5:40. In spite of no other birds, it was a lucky
Opening Day with a very good grouse dog - and he knew it!
I shot a RXP 3-18-8½ load in the right barrel: 60/50 barrels

Tuesday 14 October

warm, partly cloudy 70°

5:00 - 6:30 1½ hrs

Gates

wood 3-3

1 shot - 1 hit

Briar

2 prod
1 kip
1 net

AF

First trip to the Canaan in the glory of peak color at home (the terminal), and fading in the Valley. A fast start in the crab/thorn side and no whitewash, a bird, but no hunting. In fact aspens as lost Brian on point somewhere out to the north in the low cover and at last he came back, clearly telling us he had been poring out.

Not long after, he pointed on the outskirts of these aspens in shoulder-high St. John's Wort, a 'cock I walked up from around his neck. The bird flushed away and ~~he~~ dropped, centered, at my shot as it leveled - why don't grouse drop like that? Brian held beautifully until sent to retirement, and brought an adult hen, that lovely first-bird-with-the-first-cock-shot of the season.

Cover was thin enough, a few golden strawning leaves on the aspen - not from cold - and the ~~fallen~~ new leather fragrance of aspens leaves and cow droppings: Woodcock!

Worked Brian with "the collar" but used it only once when he didn't run off too far out. A great dog. Staying in the knight's place above Marrow Lake.

Wednesday 15 October

Rehoboth

Brain 1 prod.

5

very hot & breezy, sunny 70° moral 1 - 1
o

2:00 - 5:50 $3\frac{3}{4}$ hr.

mixed 10 - 13

2 Feb - 0

Day, hot, breezy and adverse, but good to be back in this
covert. Our first bird was a 'cock in the first thorn' - a good one -
that Bruin flushed - and stopped at. Soon after, a pheasant - soft at
first, as he remained motionless, but he circled the thorn clump and
paraded nicely. The bird held and, unable to push in and before I
shot, I asked Tay to move it from behind Bruin. The cock came out
at me and gave me a good open away-night shot that I wanted
too long to take - a bad impulse.
He never flushed in that area without

too long to take - a bad compell
then we moved two more flashes in that area without
a point. Working toward the head of Arnold Basin to get Bear to water,
we had a fine point on the edge of the little clearing above the river.
Again it was a thick place to flash and shot but the cork did not go
in, a left-quartering rising geyser that I tried for three flashes as the
bird disappeared. That I might have but lost. Pison searched hard
in the thicket of blackberry bushes with no result. There had been too much
under the point the second flashing at my shot and I almost had a
left barrel try but couldn't manage. We ate lunch on the nice little
bank in the bottom, then crossed the far upper end of the basin - never
run on the bottom, then crossed the far upper end of the basin - never
productive - and waded back to the large thorn over an ^{south} top of the
~~south~~ margin of this woods, walking ~~out~~ ^{out} ~~had~~ ^{had} ~~playful~~ making a

(6)

sound like a grouse, with no wing whistles.

In the desert of thorn thickets on the east end of the large hawthorn flat, Bruce went on point that was much more intense than his other points today. They had almost all been soft at first, reaching a full point after some walk - probably from dry-constriction problems - but this was a good one with an Ootham angle of tail. I couldn't read Ray into that mess and, knowing I'd get no shot but having no other approach, crawled over and pushed in, to hear a gross flesh. Ray saw it as it disappeared thru distant trees. We followed but had no refresh.

On the way back the eastern edge of this cutover area, as we were in the flat west of the road - good cover for either 'cork' or grouse and sawed a couple of 'cork' wild. Back on the "first thorns," grouse and sawed a couple of 'cork' wild. Back on the "first thorns," we hunted all the way to the north edge when, earlier, Bruce had made a fine point in an isolated thorn clump and the bird had taken the prefer way out, and we had later moved it back to the main area. But now, at 5:30 and when I selected most action, we couldn't find a woodcock!

Bruce's point today was first soft, then solid, but never anything but low. Conclusions? Under the 70/50 larvae today.

Thursday 16 October
cloudy, cool, 60°
2:30-3:00 } 3 hrs.
3:30-6:00 } 3 hrs.
1M

Glad Run

March 12-13
3 days - 1

Brian 3/nd
1/4 op
1/nd

With Clydes Castilow and Redruff - who is beautiful - in Clydes "play" to the "end of the road" in northern Canaan when L. Bostick promised lots of birds. Not an decent cover along Glad Run in this area other than widely scattered Hawthorn shrubs that just might hold 'cuck' in big flights (as would all the valley). Jumped 3 does. Brian unhooked this big coon like a dream, reaching everywhere at 125 yards or wider but under control. After a half hour of nothing, we returned to the Glad Run with lots of aspen cover where Kay & I had tried one year when we first had Brian. (Kay had stayed with Sarah and the two little girls today) We had no luck at first in shouldering goldenrod among the aspens until we reached a small clearing by beavers, where Brian operated - hot but crouched. I missed the bird too far out and a second one flushed, which Clydes shot at.

From here an upstream (south) we found 'cuck' in a number of the little draws, some of which had been cuttings. Brian worked west to far ahead and Campbell laid out while I was trying to get him back to cover an area where I had marked 3 or 4 cuck we had flushed wild. My next chance was over front in dense goldenrod & beavers - a work that flushed low to my right and I fired, trying to "strand" an aspen with my gun.

Further on, about 3:00 pm, Brian partly again suddenly and

I was faced with walking up the bird among trunks of aspen or ⁽⁷⁾
the left side. My recent experience has been unsuccessful on these
"outside" flights - the birds taking the other "outside," so I went in,
after giving the bird time to feast on its own, which it didn't. The
feast was a low left-quarrel that I took as an "away" shot and
and it dropped in a puff of feathers. Brian held at command until
sent to retrieve — a yearling male.

We had been encountering low hunters all along the road in, and now came on them in tree stands - this first week is too "busy" in the Valley. They shot at this cock had been in line with one of these tree hunters who happened to be high enough to grasp the pattern.

It is thin hazard. I think I saw the man with a rifle when he started
to climb down but didn't see it later. He says they got in by a
side road to the right coming in the Oak Well Party. all of this road
is terrible now, passable only to 4-wheel-drives.

is horrible now, passable only to skunk-traps.
On the way back, we encountered two more lone hunters, one
of whom advised us that the road back from Bealls' was blocked and
hunters were being arrested for "trespassing" on the road - a dilemma.

On the edge of the water of a small branch dam, Redruff suddenly pointed and Clydie remarked that he was pointing a branch. I suggested we take it seriously and we fished a 'cork' that he dropped nicely. Redruff found and retrieved which I set Brian to and to avoid interference. Brian had, at the shot, leaped halfway across

(8)

went deeper than a few inches in his enormous splash in
passage.

at the car, or rather to two hunters, who advised us as could get
out via the A-Farms on a good road beyond their camp. It was
a horror for a half mile along the latter but was beautifully
graveled all the way beyond. It was the old railroad grade I'd been
on with Ed Fuller to the top of Cabin Mountain on our way to Stony River.
It is like a highway now - dirt - and lined with campers. Between
the A-Farms and Rt. 93, there has an enclave of campers - about 15.
The two hunters (who were looking for a "dog" to breed to a bitch in
heat) said they had mated grous - one pair of 5 - "below the A-Farms".

Saturday 18 October

Cool, mostly sunny 55°
 $2:50 - 5:30 = 2\frac{1}{2}$ hrs.

Clyde Davis / Edelman

moved 6 - 6

3 shots - 0

moved 6 - 8

• that more than required

Yesterday's "Canada Day" - with rain - changed to a
lovely morning and we hunted this country, driving them low clouds at
Vesco, then out again at Mt. Storm. The color cast of the village was
still at peak intensity all the way up the winding road to Reholith -
where we saw a parked "Blazer" and three Maryland cars at Clydes
back fields on our way down to the old farm house. This is Saturday hunting.

We found that the flights had not arrived here, just as in the
Canadas, but as we hunted north on Clyde's Road - always with light

(7)

standing dead goldenrod, as now Brian so on a nice point below us. He reestablished and held, but the bird, whatever it was, went out after only a few moments and he took a few steps in that direction. We guessed it might have been a grouse, unless it had been an exceptionally nervous woodcock, which we are counting it.

All the day out, Brian hunted well, needing the touch-of-collar once or twice to keep him from moving too wide. But there is something strange at this season, producing numerous "soft" points that either do not mineralize, or become solid when he purpoints the bird. It is likely caused by the dense vegetation dead or still rank that gives trouble with scent.

Well out we found Brian on point, quite hot, that he worked as a model point and frog - not far from the groundhog hole where we heard a grouse last year, I believe it was. I started to walk in but Kay heard the flushed call ahead - a grouse. Kay also heard a second grouse drumming further up the ridge, coming back down on the hill, Brian made a lovely point on a cork - a point Kay got close to for a movie. We waited, they moved closer, but the woodcock lit in twenty yards below us.

at the road, we found it eat, sitting on the wire old rail fence with small "pheasant berries" about feet. Having run in the Edelman thorns and rather low, I saw a bird left from Brian and settle in the top of a thorn tree, at first appearing to be a hawk, then flushing toward me as a grouse. I let it turn and cross left and running them and fired, spattered that it didn't go. It was about 35 a 40

yards and I used a handload 3.1.8 that didn't seem to touch it — from the 70/50 barrels. We followed the bird's flesh down to the fence below. The flight had been dropping and I may have rung about the bird, was probably stepped the swing. Found no trace of it or a refresh. Brian was arrested and dumped a handload, logically enough with expectation of a downed bird. A second cork flushed from me and general confusion seemed the order of things.

Later arms worked north, Kay heard Evans kill as he walked west high on the ridge and heard a quail that she felt left a tree. Moving on, I flushed a quail from a nice thick corner near the lower edge of the cover and Brian broke and chased as I fired two shots, the first of which I thought I'd hit. Again, possibly a stopped wing. The bird was leveling and flushed left thru the trees; the last barrel shot was a high left quartering angle as the bird moved off well out. #1 shell was RXP 3-1 $\frac{1}{2}$ -8 $\frac{1}{2}$ /#2 AT 3-1 $\frac{1}{2}$ -7 $\frac{1}{2}$.

We moved two more culls all wild after our return to the north end of the thornes: one a bird that came down over Kay from Brian who wasn't pricing them today; the other, a bird I now settle on the edge of the clearing, above and ahead of me; flushing from Brian. He walked up at my direction, passed within 6 feet, turned at my whistle, and came back and walked into it with no signs of intent. There has to be something causing this with his normal way.

At the upper corner of the ~~thornes~~ where usually find culls, we

stood as two quail flushed from Bear, one landing in a tree, only to flush again to a tree further up the woods; the other also landed in a tree, and flushed far away as we watched. There is a great bit of luck - just quail on this side, to come back to; possibly two or three, carrying the drummer and that first point, on the north side on Cliffs. It is too early for the flight hordes to be here in numbers.

The cloud was moving in again as fog, and it moved out and beat at home in thin daylight. A good day's action.

Tuesday 21 October

warm, sunny, breezy
3:30 - 6:00 J 2½ hrs

Wellman Sawmill

moved 3 - 3

Bear

0

That we heard three quail, surely, was more than we have reason to expect in this terrain anymore, yet I have rarely seen better cover, with newly cut timber on top the Wellman hill, perfect hawthorn/crabapple thicket at the upper end - even autumn did hang up berries on the edge of a clover/pasture field along a dense little run cover. And the Harader Place is in ideal regrowth stage. May heard the other flushed, corroborated by Bear's action afterward, that he had no chance to point. We suspect the big clunker bell he was wearing. He was simply grand today in the way he quartered cover and handled - and tried so hard. Yes, quite as addled incentive to go to Michigan this Thursday. We'll see what happens

Saturday 25 October

1:30-3:45 } 2 $\frac{3}{4}$ hrs.
4:00-4:30 }

sunny, cool, 50°
breezy

Michigan

Clare (Kay stayed)
moved 3-4
0
moved 1-1
0

Brian: 1 prod
1 prod.

Small woodlot hunting at first. Second try in swamp edge
much like Cavaan cov. Disappointing. Hoping for bird cover without
guidance. John & John Jr. & Barbara. Kay stayed at cottage with
the andersens. Brian the only dog, did a great job.

Sunday 26 October

(Sun Time)

2:00-4:45 2 $\frac{3}{4}$ °
sunny, mild - 60°

yearling cock: semi-solid moved 9-11 (others by P. & J.)

gray tail IM 2 shots - 2 hits

Crop: full of gray dogwood berries

and few species: strawberry & misc.

3:30 pm. (Kay & I) drove 25 miles to meet the Johns &

Tan Pravdylek, then drove 25 miles south & east to Tittabawassee
State Forest (well cut-back). The famous Pravdylek was not
unpleasant, said nothing more about Brian than "You've got a big dog!"
and answered questions - no questions from him.

Drove back a ~~old~~ log road and began hunting in
moderate regrowth cover where Pravdylek's lady immediately pointed,
and P. shot and declared "Feathers flew!" We refreshed the bird
later with a shot from young John. Late, much shooting from J. & P.
in woodcork, then another point by lady (gray) and a miss as by
Brian simultaneously on a different ~~gray~~ bird. J. So flushed, trying to

(13)

but it toward me.

Later, on the travelled sand road, I saw several 'cock
that would have been fair shots had they been pointed, birds
that followed the edge & either crossed a pointed back or cover.
These were most from atypical cover among the gray dogwood that,
this year, is nearly bare of the white berries.

Coming back in cover after J. S. returned toward cover, they
all got a 'cock point by Bruce, no shot, and a high flush
from a point by Lady - a 'cock that came over my head and gave me
a going away high shot - fluttering down. Bruce searched
well but could not locate. P. brought Lady in and after some
search by both dogs, she found the bird which fluttered up and she
caught & relieved A & P. after examining it. P. calmly remarked
that it was a gray tail - a ploy I blocked by holding out my
hand and saying "Thank you." It was a yearling hen.

After another gray flush from Bruce and more cock, Lady
pointed a grouse that flushed over my head from the others. I
turned, got a look at the bird going away high and held below
a shade & fired seeing it go down well out. Bruce found it and guarded
it well against P. & L. who hurry to the scene of each fall.

This was my first ^{tiny} gray tail grouse (*togata*) in 51 seasons,
a great pleasure. A yearling cock. After ^{Keystone} ~~Keystone~~ of 35 mm of the
affair, as noted on, I had to ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~dark~~ - a flush

(14) ~~15~~

stop by Brian and others as invited - then a grand front by Brian
well ahead - held beautifully and steady at the shot. The
^{cock} bird fell solidly - low straightaway - and B retreated, a
yearly maul. A great day. I was using A 3-1/8-7 1/2
loads in all three shots. ^{Brood size greatest late of fall, get his dog}
^{into field to retrieve if possible ahead of yours. On}
^{my last woodcock he received from P. and started to pocket it, which I stopped by shouting}
^{tenuously with back off and pointing hand up.} ^{his} ^{his} ^{his} ^{his} ^{his} ^{his}
with cover without us - they always know where to go along -
and repeated moving 11 years, shooting several times and
bringing me out. Another knocked down and lost.

This was a fine second day. Brian did not find as
many birds as I. who's a very little dog (~~Petite~~)
but has had beautiful exposures in 8 years.) Day closed 7:20 min.
back to college ^{minimum}
Monday 27 October Rosecommon Game Area
Sunny, warm 60°⁵
8:15 - 4:15 $\{$ 3 1/2 hrs. moved 3-3
4:30-5:00 $\}$ 0 moved 5-5
IM 1 shot - 1 hit

Brian: 2 perd.
1 h op
1 ret

John, Kay & I hunted this area at recommendation of
DNR man in Rosecommon: He'd moved birds here 2 years ago!
I had recently harvested hardwoods on edge of spruce swamp (2 gross in
swamp John flushed).

Our first production held long by B. on cock, John's shot - no tail.
John uses Model 21, both barrels cylinder, with brush loads! (ironing)
main sand road to far side, B. had a close point (like stones) under
his nose - my shot a miss

rabbit jumped when bird had fallen. Bird was gearing male (15) and delivered almost to heart, dead. Son of the, number #3 'cock wild from John; both Brian naked & grown that left too far ahead for a shot.

Coming back we'd log road that looked a classic Medway small arbor cover, Kay saw & each cow in and land to left of road; just B. that day and a few out flushed, then the one Kay had avoided flushed as B. flushed but did not get point.

That was it — a living disappearing day as typical of strange terrain. We tried a "deer managed cutting" at mount with traps higher. Very tired today. Skipped Tuesday.

Wed 29 October

Omer

Bear: 2 prod.
1 prod.

Cool, sunny, upper 40's

moved 6-7 (20 some fleas)
0 Prawdzik

moved 2-3

1 shot - 0

Another day chasing Prawdzik only worse. This area thick cover like the Gates corner between road and Blackwater — cover I avoid because of awkward shooting and walking. John & P. disappeared into the bush at a fast bush-space, leaving Kay and me to move on our own. Very shortly, gunfire started as it always does in Prawdzik's range with no pretense of association with us. We spent the next two hours hunting P. and J. instead of birds, with constant shots from the others and with about equal relation to them as if they were an alien hunting party. This is a frustrating manner of hunting the.

(6) ~~(7)~~

birds were certainly here and P. found them, but always got them first. Brian did poorly, confused by a different pace and yelling from P. too early. Brian's quartering was ineffectual because after crossing ahead of us, he found us ahead of him on the next jog and walked much behind us. Further, his ground-trailed much of the time and more than I can account for unless it was that they grossly run so much - (I saw one run ahead of me).

Finally, I suggested that we separate, and Kay and I walked Brian along the road road, moving 2 "cock" - or a crossing shot then tree from Brian's distant front - and four quail that gave us only a glimpse of one too. I felt useless in this situation, yet knew there were plenty of grouse. P. shot 3.

Thursday 30 October

Sunny cool 50°

2:00 4:30 2t hrs

Military Road (near Higgins Lake) Brian: 1 bird.

maled 4-5

0

at suggestion of Jim McPherson, John Jr. took me and his parents to the not-bad looking area southwest of Higgins Lake.

John Sr. was his usual nice self - sober and Barbara a pleasant person to talk to. They stayed at the cottage today to reduce members.

Brian worked well, I felt, moving across the water front than he is accustomed to in what was even more like ours - thorns in small groups, oaks, pines, browned bracken. His productivity was out of my sight but I saw his shot may as the bird flushed wild and later we had a reflectively round as only trees. Later we walked into three grouse scattered in a small area of bracken and oaks - a group Brian did not hit - both Johns fired impossibly long shot.

lot of sun do. John Jr. uses a Model 21 with both barrels cylinder and shorts brush loads at bush 45 yards out.

No further contacts or return and since the others appeared tired, we stopped at 4:30. John leaves for Oregon tomorrow

Friday 31 October

Baldwin Area

Brian: 1 bird

1 shop

1 ret.

cloudy, cold, windy 45° $\frac{1}{2}$ hr moved 1-1

large adult cat: semi-solid 1 shot - 1 kill op

light tan tail (semi-gray, semi-red)

thin, bush translucent small red berries (?) Left Higgins Lake at noon and drove the long trip

drop: unripe green berries, [↑] high-bush cranberries?

green, black cat, seeds

strawberry, unripe green leaves (?)

long unidentified leaves to Baldwin to meet Bob Steinke and Bob Johnson at Uncle "Nimmy" Nolphi's place on the

redundant leaves ^{Pere} Pierce Margarite River. They arrived late, having been

hunting and again we drove (another thirty miles or so) to a slacked area where Bob S. had moved birds yesterday. They drove to another part (where they moved a group of five grouse) and gave us this section which had the luxury of a long road to hunt. It was mostly treed, cuttings in tangles of broken and teaberry, some islands of pine and aspen, none of which produced to Brian's beautiful coverage, but the high wind may have accounted for this.

After a half hour and in failing light - clouds and time - we ate a bite and turned back having noted a fork in the log road to be aware of on the return. Brian was working the cover to the ~~left~~ left of the path - nice small growth along a depression that followed a small run - good place for birds to lie out the wind. At a tangle of blow-down, I heard Brian ~~all go silent and run him~~ really

flattered in the brasher — exceptional of him. After a few moments, he reestablished and made a lucky high headed point from the right side of a small pine on the middle of the thick mass of cover. I signaled Ray who was well behind and to one side, and then moved closer. The gun flashed in a low straightaway that I could and saw the bird go down at about 35 or 40 yards.



PERFECTION! DEEP IN FERNS.

Brian held, then searched on command and found, putting on his act about not completing the retrieve, while Ray, who was present now, tried to get pictures. At last we managed a "stimulated" retrieve via the collar-lift and accepted a beautiful large cock that had appeared gray on the flesh but proved a halfway color between brown and gray — a light tan tail. We were running out of light and time and suspected we were on the wrong fork of the trail but had to go further to convince us. We did, and had a cutback to make to the far and a fair trek to the corner and the road and the car beyond, but we had a happy come-up to the lack of the shooting rest and life goes now litte it.

(19)

Saturday 1 NovemberBaldwin AreaBrian: 2 perd.
1 perd.

hot, sunny, dry, 60°

large swamp/pine wood cover

1:00 - 4:45 3 $\frac{3}{4}$ nestled 8-8 mostly heard (Bob Johnson
and Steinbarks)
1 shot - 0
nestled others (12)

nestled 5-5

(at breakfast time saw a large o chick salmon run up the Pocahontas Valley)

This was a day I can do without. Drove a long distance to a large two-mile section with a mile drive back a less used road (known for Saturday cyclists) and parked, Bob S. taking a log road and delegating the other "log road" to Bob J. and Kray and me. It passed a road through a worthless pine plantation ending in a huge abandoned field, where Bob J. went to the upper end and arranged to meet us at the lower margin later. As usual, we had just got started when the shooting started in Steinbarks' area and later in Johnson's — hosts always know where the best areas are, as documented by the shower of shots that invariably occur soon after I have been sent into the timberland.

Brian made a fine point that heard early and late I saw a grouse leave to one side of where he was walking. Then grouse run, I am sure. Kray marked it, and we followed to the edge of a pine wood, where as described a large stand of gray deerwood, the one good acre of grouse in this country. Certainly had the day marks, we followed Brian past the large woods when the birds would hold and now had a grand stand in a blow-down. I walked in after Kray had taken yards of film on both cameras, then saw Brian turn his head toward his feet and ducking. He came up with a porcupine, striking at like a rag, and of them.

a way to get more quills I can't imagine it. It was shaking his head and pawing at his mouth which looked like a mouthful of straw. Ray said "Short that things!" and I did, then unloaded the gun and got to Brian who was nearly hysterical. Ray and I were nearly so, as we tried to hold him down and prevent his struggling. I had brought a hemostat — godsend — at Glenn Baker's suggestion, and while I sat on Brian, straddling him with my knees, Ray tried to pin his forelegs and hold his lower jaw simultaneously, while I attempted to hold his lips and extract the spine with a hand that shook crazily, jabbering like an idiot. The hemostat came apart and for a moment I lost half of it in the ferns but we got it back together and, once I got the hock, the instrument proved perfect for the job. I pulled out what must have been a hundred quills from the roof of Brian's mouth, tongue, wind and outside of his cheeks and lips, from his gums where some of the quills were run up along the tooth roots. When Brian realized we were removing the quills, he lay fairly quiet and let us work — pulling them out two and three at a time in some places. Needle-nose pliers could not be as efficient as the hemostat and I'll always carry it, even in country where there are no porcupines (where I intend to remain), for they would work well on hawthorn spines in beds. The porcupines are black and warty (as are the quills: ivory with small rasp-surfaced points), and I was surprised to discover the quills come out easily with a firm pull, but saliva and blood make them too slippery to extract by simply bare fingers. Brian, ~~was~~, ^{had} ~~gathered~~ ^{gathered} ~~buried~~ ^{buried} well

the balance of the day (evidently encountering another porcupine an hour later but came in with only eight quills in his lips and nose this time — no grabbing.) That night in the cabin, he was depressed, as after the groundhog fight, from adrenalin outpour, and at home four days later his lips swelled as from allergic reaction (as treated successfully with 50 mg. Baradyl) and there is an account abscers looking area in one finger and check that may by an unlabeled quill point us as hunting. Otherwise, all three of us want no more North Woods porcupines.

Rejoining Johnson, who had flushed a group of five geese, we waded into the brushy swamp to follow them. Water here is ankle deep in places but gets deeper. Further in; swamp grass takes over in places, there is hardback in impenetrable masses and everywhere under this mass there is a tangle of fallen, or cutdown, tree branches. There are not even deer paths and the footing is abominable, with shooting limited to only what can be glimpsed over the face-high tangle of brush. We heard half a dozen woodcock — several chances I passed because the bird was not from front — and Johnson missed two barrels at a report of an Elk gun — a bird that comes over me and which I missed as an overhead away — right try as I turned and shot.

At this moment, Brian ran onto another goose that flushed from an old stump near me — a shot that would have been a good one but I was reloading.

We had to turn back from the swamp; tried again at the elk, a fine bird as we found tremendous ~~long~~, mainly of gray, downy and

(22) (23)

a couple of wild flushed I couldn't hear. Crossing them the ~~pines~~, we got a shout from Price at the edge of an opening with dogwoods and water, but he wasn't certain after his regular shout and I ordered him on, when he bunched a quail. A record one flushed from our left.

On the log road in the pines, we followed it out and Price had a shout ahead and to our right and a quail flushed before we reached him - then two more quickly. These birds are very wild.

That was it. We hunted for a while down to the cars where we found that Steinbom had left two quails and a 'cuck' - he was back in the woods and still shooting. Great host. I was somewhat upset by the forenoon's episode and felt I'd been bad as to showing me birds. That evening, they prepared

the game for dinner that Mr. Price had shot earlier. ~~One whole duck I removed tips of our quail that had walked up from Bo's mouth and out the tops of his chick!~~ Another still ^{another still} ~~absolutely~~ ^{absolutely} in the game.

Sunday 2 November

~~Baldwin~~ ^{Holiday Inn} Oil City area

Price: 2 p.m.

rain, wet, mild 50°.

road 3-3

2:30-3:45 ~~After~~ ³ hrs

o

Left Baldwin and drove to Titabawasse State Park over where we hunted the Sunday before. Cloudy and threatening and the rain started a few minutes after we entered over. This is rotten fooling and thicket hunting - no trails - and whispering, and the rain only fit my mood. Absolutely walked in for minutes. I was on the back road hoping for a shot from ~~anywhere~~ when I saw Price wheel ahead of us on the road and shout left, crouched from intensity. I walked to him and the quail flushed quickly, showing for a record a two but not for what I call ~~exhibit~~ - (I know guys who would have had ~~left~~ ^{left} ~~done~~ ^{done}). Once more

(23)
23

plunging in and walking toward the edge of gray deerwood along
the woods and main road, I finally walked a good up hill
ahead — no shot — and then heard Brans bell go quiet behind
me. Moments later, I heard a flushed, then Brans bell continued.
I dashed to the opening where I shot a 'coh' a week ago, then to
the road where they met me with the car. It has never been wetter.
Can't recall having before felt water running down the groves of the
climbing on the back of the stock and into my recesses it did
today.

Changing into dry clothes sitting in the Pronto (not easy) we
headed for Sagamore and drove thru fog and rain to Toledo for dinner,
and on to Cleveland for the night — cleared weather. Next day, home,
and mountains never looked better.

The trip to Michigan was fun — good company and
unfortunately at Hedges Lake — no-so at Baldwin (Squint was good to see
too I didn't get to see him with Bob Huntington).

We had done what I was uneasy we could do — went until the
peak grass populations of '72, '73, and '74 had dropped. The grass were
down to almost nothing in the upper Penns. Peninsula, almost all
the birds being in lower Zone 2 and in Zone 3, and had I known this,
we would not have gone. The country around Baldwin did have birds in
spots — but you have to find the spots and when you do, you have to
wade through many tangles, water, fallen branches, no trail, tangles of what I
would avoid down here (like the green cover of the bats). Shouting to

(24)

mostly holes shooting with wide-open guns and at long and all fashions.
The northern border with spruce, which looks so appealing, a world by
itself held birds, which are reported to be "all over" when the cover is up.

Hunting with Tom Prawdzik was a gaff. You would have to shoot
Tom to get a shot at a grouse near him. He has the long instinct of
a cow — float dead and wonder no more. He puts you in cover, then
pushes off and ploughs after Lady who is a good meat dog, tearing up
the birds but does it well. Prawdzik pays no attention to anyone in the
group, making changes in course with no contact and you find yourself
hunting him, not birds. Anytime he starts in, you never hear him shooting —
"father flew" a "left one in there." If taking parties out is part of
his job, he never fails to carry a gun and has the attitude that you
want to see him hell bent, which he offers to you after and.

Michigan adds up to too much flat country, too much barren
areas, too thick cover where the birds are concentrated, and nothing taste
as shooting. The gray-tails are exciting, dog work not too favorable in
that thick cover when you can't see it. And those goddammed porcupines.
I'll take fewer grouse — and a lot more woodcock in the Alleghenies.

Tom Prawdzik is resistible, if not repulsive, concerned with
no one and no dog but himself and his own. Inserting fingers in a grouse or
woodcock's anus, he pulls out the viscera and feeds the liver, gizzard, and
heart raw to his dog (from grouse; ~~woodcock~~ ^{George Bird Evans Papers} ~~viscera~~ ^{liver, gizzard, heart} raw), hanging the
entrails on a bush. lovely.

Thursday 6 November

Hot, sunny, 70°
2:15 - 5:30 3½ hr.

AF
IF

Clyde Davis (top field above old house)

Moved Z-2

March 12-13

4 shots - 2 hits

Bruin

6 prod.

zh

2 ret

IF

Davis to Mt. Storm area, headed for the Edelmann Place, only to meet jeep with Roger Lundeell, Charles Hamilton, Tom Clawson and a fourth coming onto RT 50 at the Schell Road - bad news. Part of the Wadsworth Society conclave preemtting the Carson this week. Found they had been on the Edelmann Place, shooting the trees 'cact' moved - (left too quick) and after a short chat (Hamilton unappealing, Lundeell better than usual) up drove to the Davis house where Lydi charged our permit to Life Time. We parked at the old house under brush trees loaded with open burns and walked to the cow beyond, moving two grassy fields. Cattle very dry - a few began moving and finding 'cact' in a gratifying

25

to the left in another great point. They crawled close and got
more pictures. The bird flushed nearby and fired as it topped,
seeing it flutter down ahead. Prior held steady until sent, and
came back with a dead 'cock', making too much delay on his retrieve,
according ^{to} her.



as a left-quartering shot. Again a retrieve after a steady-to-not
but some prolonged forliners before delivery - an adult hen.
We had more points but too much lack of contact with
Brian who, for some reason, went too wide. The electric collar failed -
due to lack of charge so as was helpless to correct him.

Altogether, this was a lovely afternoon gunning to ourselves,
and in a charming setting on top the flat hill, and in cover
that looked like - and was - 'cock' cover. There should have been
more grass. A place to go back to, possibly hunted from the lower
road.

Saturday 8 November
hot but cloudy 60°
1:35 - 4:35 - 3 hrs.

Matthews Place
Nov 4-4
1 shot - 0

(27) (28)

Bruin: 2 frost

A great cover - again ours along today. New development is 2 trailers in the Shadokunden cover - Larry Matthews, son of Paul, and his sister. Funny and going with very cordial when we found them home on our way in. Reported soft grass on the shaded hill above us had 2 predators, and there were left on briery hill in our old cover. "Come back any time."



We moved 2 guns held - windy - no Shadokunden along river in bottom, no more than we noted the woods below the "fire road" to the Rd 10 and to the big field - good brush cutting just wind. Hunted Talcott Henderson hills with no results, then back the shaded hillsides - no roads left in most places - when Bruin made a good point well from the bad but the grass finished out the far side of the trough and back to the Talc H. Shadokunden.

Soon after, a fine high point (Orthocarp tail) above and ahead, held like a dream while I took the only possible approach, but the grous didn't let my gun reach my opening and gave me a left - yearling long leg - foolish - all out that I needed. Hunted but failed to find it again. Tired and hot we walked to the house (quite late and while George spaniel alone on chain). This is great cover and one of our best hopes.

George Bird Evans Papers

West Virginia and Regional History Center

Tuesday 11 November
Sunny, mild, 50°
2:10 - 5:30 - 3 1/4 hr.

Clyde Davis (Top & ridge sides)

Brian: 8 prod.
2 kop
2 ret

AF
IM

Forecasts threatened rain tomorrow so we postponed our plans to go for several days in Blackwater area and made this a one-day hunt, parking at the brow of the hill above Eleman Place and "hunting" back the ridge to the top cover on Clyde Davis. Hunting consisted of finding a way thru blackberry tangles and trying to reach the known cover that passed about $1\frac{1}{2}$ miles and not the near bush we spotted at the ampts.

When we got there, as tho the boundaries were magic, Brian immediately pointed when put across the low rail fence into the small copse at the near end - a high tail, low posture in front that said "'Look!'"



Wandering thru trees to reach him, I came in from the front and finally saw the 'cock' on the ground between us, headed toward Brian. I flushed it

and was unable to get a clear view as it wound its way out and across the flat toward the north. Brian held well at the flush and then made a short move to my left and pointed again. Within seconds, another woodcock darted out low to the open field behind me where I was unable to repeat a try at ~~at too close and too far behind~~ — a stopped snap.

Brian broke on that day, chasing into the field.

His next point came in the dense clump of birds around the apple tree where I shot a 'cock' last time. This time he pointed from the opposite side (south) and, not solid, would cautiously walk the tangle, freezing a few yards under the north edge with the bird obviously between as when I stood, having walked around. My shot had to be against the bright sun and was, the cock chattering from the trees to melt out in the white-hot radiance, then reappear high and left-quartering above Kay who was on her ~~hands~~ knees. I fired directly "in" instead of holding under as the situation required of the bird moving down in perspective above my head level, and missed.

Brian's next point was on the edge of cover on the east, in thorns and he seemed unable to establish it, waving, pointing, flagging and suddenly just outside the edge cover, if one to get a shot but and he made a click, point manner, & and point into a stand of hawthorns on my left and to the left of where he'd originally pointed. This time it was conveniently solid and the woodpecker climbed straight up thru the thorns, its wings making a sound on the branches like a green flesh. I fired down the bird but it was pitching to level and I shot nothing but some twigs of hawthorn.

Three muses on a row on 'cock are not good for my legs.

We hunted around the north edge behind the small pine plantation and Brian inadvertently dumped a 'cock and in what might have been the flight of the same bird dumped it again. Conditions are dry and noisy in this kind of cover and make it difficult to handle the birds.

Brian kept walking toward the south when I wanted to move north - again we saw a 'cock left without a point, and I took some time to cover the area to my dissatisfaction - no more birds.

We were $\frac{1}{2}$ miles from the car and it was 4:30, so we lit out at a hard pace across the spongy, hillocky pasture, trying to follow an aimless cows' path to somewhere. The sun was bright in an enamel blue sky and the distant ridges looked like Rockwell Kent's "Mt. Equinox" — shadows black on drab ground textures. Kays' suggestion that as dry, down and went the Clyde Davis ridge below the old rail fence corner was the one we followed and soon dropped over the brow into cool of shadows merging into dark.

Brian's first good find (several empty scatterings) was partly down the slope in bruisers and kicking splinters (no ashes here) and he held it beautifully the long while it took to reach him. The land flushed away left and rising and I fret as it was almost behind your car and saw it drop. Brian held off the ~~complaint~~ & so fetchi, then soon located and retrieved — nicely, considering

(31)

the distance. I think he does better when we stand and wait for him to come to us — an adult hen, well centred for a long shot.

3.1.8 Oscar still (no deer) with the 20/50 loads.

We had scarcely put the bird away when Kay called that Bruce was pointing again, and once more I got a shot, a bird fairly high and going away, and I saw it flutter on for a few yards, losing ground, then go down. Bruce's return was odd — at first he found and pointed and I had to order fetch, dead bird, before he picked it up. His delivery was erratic, carrying it — dead — then laying it down; and finally he let it lie not far from us and turned and went along the side of the fall and pointed. He'd had most of another bird already by retrieved this one. I turned to him and got to the right side, finding an opening between small saplings. The cork made a low right — quartering flesh only, a yard or so above the ground and I had trouble getting a focus, firing at it as an away-right low bird. I lost sight of the bird just before I pulled, but then saw it climb and fly out far above after the shot.

My vision wasn't the best today — carryover of a blood sugar drop yesterday afternoon — and shooting under these conditions is not the best. I seemed to take longer to focus and shoot (noticed this in Michigan, tho I did well) and while my glasses are working well, I may have a steady stock ~~vision~~ ~~not much~~ ~~feeling~~ out.

This was our last contact with birds (there had been 9
further over Bear's part without a shot).

Bear walked well, full of energy, and as found there a
good two events, joined but separate. It could be noted by
hunting at the level we returned, stopping to the flat, then
returning further down. Not the huge flights reported in the
Canadian area, ^{the} last two weeks but good action. And ours alone.

Thursday 13 November Hancock Place

cloudy, cold, windy, snow falling 41° moved 5-5
1 shot - 0 moved 1 hen pheasant - 1

1:30 - 4:45 3 $\frac{1}{4}$ hrs.

Bear: 2 prod.

1 bad pheasant

Received my Penna. license this a.m. and drove to his
magnificent covert. A cloudy, windy, threatening day that materialized
into snow showers, heavy at time and inundating the grass and weeds with
more "blossoms." This is great cover but there was no game on the bank in
spite of grapevines (not no grapes to mention) and probably because of the wind.
Neither were they in the flat around the loading clearing, tho' there gave us a
great show at the base of the hill — probably a wild flock. Bears are
scarce this year beyond most experience.

Not until we'd circled and come back the side road toward the power
line did we even hear a bird — long heard it going out — and then Bear
did handsome work, lead high and working sent well up, on the edge of the night-
fall now. Up to this time he had handled beautifully, quarreling well within range,
but now he reached and while in that he heard his bell so silent, it was too far
into the "flat" cover, and we saw a grouse come out high above trees, far beyond
gun range, and pitch across the power line ~~at~~ ^{and} going to

(33)

far in. We had some trouble getting Brian trees and in the process he made a hot point in dead grass and thorns in the open right-of-way and I expected a pheasant that did not come out. Finally got Brian into the far woods where we wanted him and there he showed some signs of rest - an empty point in rhododendron & rocks near the margin - we did not find our quarry.

After eating lunch on a cut log on an plastic pad, we started north in those woods; I noted a small cowbird gleaming white and wet just on what seemed the edge - one of Scott Henchel's, no doubt. Late, as I moved in that direction, Kay called that Brian was pointing ahead and I recognized my cowbird as Brian; who and for how long? We got to him to find a grand point into a large rhododendron, offering problems for a shot. As I moved close and waited, Brian moved a few steps back and around, then relocated an old point in his original position, but closer to the dense rhododendron. Kay moved in from the right, taking movies, and I tried to select a spot that could give me a chance at both right and left openings, but I was encumbered with trees on all sides, narrowing my view to short spaces. When the quarry came out, it was low and on my right - a jet-apart left-quarter view that lasted only a half-second and ^{at} not even the eight yards range. I fired, feeling my right shoulder nearly jerk from the strained effort I had pulled lifting a bag of dog feed earlier, and I of course stopped my run. The quarry was out of sight except for a brief look as it climbed and topped the trees, leaving the country. It was the first good point and flesh from rhododendron in years and recalled old times with Puff.



Ray and I sent Brian on and followed but the area was too big and general in character of cover to find the grouse and we turned back in the failing light and snow. At the power line, Brian again pointed just within the woods - a point that was like these other curiously empty points in here. After I moved to him, he gave up and began ground-trailing - a fault he has got into this season. We should correct this with the stock collar but so far have failed to do so. This time he roared right into a hen pheasant on the edge - a flush that would have offered a good chance if he had pointed.

Late, in the "flat" cover near the base of the knob, we heard two grouse without a view by me. Unatisfactory results in a great cover; some fine dog work (mostly, actually) but some bad ground-trailing -



Saturday 15 November

perfect, sunny, cold 40°
trace of snow

2:45 - 5:30 2 $\frac{3}{4}$

Cherry Run

March 3-5
0

Brian: 1 bird.

Yesterday's snow was still around but melting in sunny spots, tho the temperature was cold in shade and windy in exposed areas. Sun and beautiful weather. Hunted this new covert, a sort of deserving satisfaction in spite of few birds but there is the feel that they are here. This is perfect old growth timbering cover and it is of interest that those we saw were not out on sunny edges or in open tree clearings but in tree top brush piles.

This was posted land but happily owned by Art Teets'.

Cherry Run bisects the covert with only one bridge, and we took the left (west) side, working north. Ignoring sunning thorn thickets on the edge toward the Clark Farms road, the Brian made surveys with them, I held to a nice log road ~~down a bank~~ ^{over a grassy} that hugged the rocky shoulderbank and margin of the stream - deep and

unravelable in this season. Seduced by some excellent looking thorn-
and-tangle cover with a log road forcing up, I stepped up onto it to
follow Brian and heard Kay call "two grouse!!" from a place that
was only yards from where I had left the main log road. It was
fais. Kay said it was a classic double rise, in unison, with the grouse
so close she could "count their spots." She walked them across the stream
into cover above a bulldozed road on that side near a tall hemlock.

We continued north to explore our side — good but no birds. In
one thick corner near a field, I saw an immobile form of a small deer watching
me from 15 yards. Brian came in, ran at it and the two nearly collided.
Instead of running, the fawn, which acted like a little buck, actually
took a look at Brian and with a decision that was almost vocal, made a
couple of butting motions at him like a goat, accompanied by short
rushes at him. We got Brian away and the little buck, not much
larger than Brian, stood and watched us and panted the ground. What
hormones! Finally it moved off but with no show of fear. Kay raised
the question re deer and rabies but I almost doubt that. With no
action from another segment above when the red seemed to leave the
buck, we turned back into a ~~frontier~~^{brutally} blinding sun and walked our way
back to the truck and the east side.

Fred log roads lace this terrain with recent and old cutting
making classic cover. Walking north one may know the flushed birds
we followed one of the roads (~~Michigan Avenue~~ ^(West Virginia)) as suddenly

(31)

Bruin began working ground scent on the right edge of the road. I tried to move him on and he pointed into a brush pile just above him, only to have a large ground flushed, and with a baste, Bruin headed at the pile - shooting a shot if I'd have had one. It was outrageously bad dog work in spite of the point and I can't overlook it in a dog so good in other ways. This ground-trailing will have to be stopped.

We followed the road and moving up where Kay had marked the bear from across the creek and later Bruin moved with without points that we could detect - with from a ledge of rocks and thodokhudson - good cover.

Returning upstream, we got a phenomenal point, Bruin holding ahead until I turned, then moving in with a grand high head, and running in spots to gain an open portion in shaded brush pile cover. Bruin was so intense and pursued his point - nose-point action (no reward-training here) that I was puzzled when no game flushed - at least taurines! - Finally he went to ground on new tracks of a grouse and back-tracked them like a hound, getting warmer. At least there's one more, maybe two, grouse here, but we didn't find them.

Waded to the car in cool of dark and deep pools of water in the bog road. We'll have this to enjoy later

Monday 17 November

Warm, sunny, 60°
2:30 - 3:45 } 2 1/4
4:15 - 5:15 } 2 1/4

Gatymor

moved 1-1

Gates

0

Brian:

hunted beautifully
in the big terrain and
within control. Equally
well and close in the Gates.

Tried the Rt 93 cover Gary Schweitzer described. As usual,
nothing, except a wild flesh from greenbrier above the car when we
started. Went up and down to the Gates where we found it probably
more barren than any time we have tried. The big flight of cock that
was reported last week of October and first week of November had gone,
probably because of the snow the following week. How terribly empty these
cavels are without hordes. It is still too early not to have further
birds in flight but will it be in numbers?

We sat at the Gates after sunset and saw two darkening
birds. Drove down from home today to stay at Mirror Lake (Knight's)

Tuesday 18 November

Warm, cloudless, sunny
upper 60°, dry.

1:15 - 4:15 } 4 hrs.

4:30 - 5:30 } 1M

Clyde Davis / Edelman

Brian: 5 prod.

moved 5-6 ^{not new}

4 prod.

2 shots - 0

Rebecca ^{not new}

1 hop

moved 1-2

moved 2-2

1 rel.

1 shot - 1 hit ⁰ moved 3-4

Drove from Mirror Lake to old farmhouse about Edelman Place
and left Brian in the Pontiac station wagon parked in shade of the shed.
Hunting down the road with intention of working the Edelman corner and
ridge, we saw Brian wandering from the road, moving along the west fence
side in an effort to find a gap. I called him back and sat on the
west for him to leap over, then followed him into the briars and thorns
just inside the fence where he was working next — almost pointing but
not quite, then moving on & moved it. At the edge of taller, and
thicker, cover he pointed and I walked on, pushing a cock that

settled not far ahead without leaving the cover.

(39)

Brian snatched it and moved on to ^{the} front again, at first uncertainly, then wheeling and pointing with his head turned over his left side, a lovely point.



There was no doubt about it this time and I walked toward him — the 'cak' rising between us and falling at the peak of its climb as it went out of

CERTAIN.

view. Brian held but I gave him no time to break and ordered "go fetch." His retreat was nice — a few delays but to hand for a 35 mm. photo by Kay. It was a yearling male and we were all delighted.

Brian moved on, excited, but Kay and I paused to get a photo of me with bird and gun standing by the largest heart tree that we will see in our lives — fully five feet in diameter.

Encouraged, we decided to hunt the Daois slopes but moved nothing else, then we hunted back, skirting the swamp bottom in what would certainly have produced game in Michigan. Ending at a nice little thorn corner at the road (undiscovered before), we climbed the fence and tried to stop Brian to have a bite, but he was wound up and began a long prance that looked like a mobile point, ending solid but with no bird. This sort of empty point has occurred so frequently this season and it puzzles me. Are 'cak' lifting far ahead? There appears to be no whitewash at these places.

While having our breathes, we once more examined Brian's mouth, which had been bothering him ~~since morning~~. The ulcers had changed several times but at the cabin this ~~morning~~ ^{George Bird Evans Papers} had opened ~~it without cutting~~ ^{West Virginia and Regional History Center}

90

the porcupine quill at last bear curtain was unblocked. Now, in this open place where we were sitting under a large oak tree - all trees seem large for their kind here - we found the crease of the abscission well open and a butt end protruding. Kay managed to get a hold of it and removed the $\frac{1}{2}$ inch quill tip. Seventeen days after it had been unblocked and broken off. A relief to Brian and Kay and me.

We found no 'cork' in the good thorn cover but hunted on through some barren pole cover to the thorns at the upper end. There in the bottom, with Brian watching thicket behind me, I saw a grouse flushed from between Kay and me (against the sun) from him, come low above me) and crossed a goldenrod clearing, giving my flushed from thicket edge and crossed a goldenrod clearing, giving my a grand, away-left shot. I mounted and fired exactly as I would have a ^{low} woodcock, at which the woodcock could have folded and at which the grand game was noticed; I held on it as at leveled and fired again and grand game was noticed; I held on it as at leveled and fired again and again it ignored the shot. Fodderam this kind of shooting. I am convinced I am trying to shoot with a gun too tight for the purpose. (I was loaded with 3.18-8 $\frac{1}{2}$ right / 3.18-7 $\frac{1}{2}$ left.



George Bird Evans Papers

West Virginia and Regional History Center

FOLD DAMN IT FOLD

We followed but had no refresh, the swamp cover at the upper end being too dense to get into. Instead, we climbed the ridge and, going over the worn wire fence, began hunting back the upper level with large timber but excellent grouse mire tangles spotted them it was with grapes. In one at the top Brian made an excellent point and I was sure I'd get a flush. The grouse was well beyond, for I heard the crack of wings in branches far out.

His next point was a beauty, high of head and good tail, again in fallen logs and more grapevines. I got to him promptly — I am moving in on points faster now — but I stopped to await the flush just a step



too far back; (lesson: keep moving and flush the bird, don't let the bird take the initiative). The grouse — a big one, flushed down the hill into the large woods and climbed the silhouette of a maple, in effect, so that I had no view of it after the first burst off the ground. It was a great piece of work.

We continued, unable to follow the bird, and walking along the fence and in the open field on top, I saw Brian on another fine point, much like the last, but this grouse didn't let me get even as close as the last one, flushing and going down into the woods. We followed in a general manner, long hearing the flush from my voice, probably, from a grouse below us with Brian somewhere ahead.

It was getting late and we wanted to give the Rebobeth Thomas a late visit so we cut directly to the "upper corner," passing the giant black oak on the way. *In the wrong place* had work that

Looked
75/42
the certain birds, probably 'cack', but then pointed and never and pointed again & again, as never heard a bird. I have not seen ground
scat as fast and bothersome and puzzling to a dog as this season.

Drawing in the last remnant of light, we got to Rebholth at
4:30 and Brian got them the gate and went on a hot point at the first
clumps of thorns just inside.

Leaving the gate for Kay to
close, I turned to him,
loading. Kay reacted as
as I flushed a 'cack', very
low and darting between
stems - impossible shot.



JUST INSIDE THE GATE.

The next action was out in the thorns, a good point, very up, and high.
and when I tried to circle and come in, a grouse roared up out of
sight.

Another sign of fragrance in the cover beyond the traverses covered
a point that want a point reestablishing, then circling to swing back
and point behind the original set - perfect mobility point, and when
tried to get in, another grouse, this one a short view but no shot.

We had too little time to hit the "wind" thorns so came back

to the edge corn bordering the woods in the flat near the road. Beta
high point in brush but while it was solid, Brian left before I could
walk to him. Moments later I walked into a 'cack' that never have been a
shot had Brian held - I saw the bird in silhouette long driftings as it
leveled, like a buzzard. Another 'cack' flushed soon after without any fan
Brian also seemed to be unable hardly things here - a bird that I walked

into again, a count & a splash, tho' at the place down
loads of whitewash. One bird had walked along a cow path, black
mud and trampled, and had apparently lived and walked the path,
depositing a splash of whitewash every several yards in regular cadence.

A good day's action, fine dog work, measurable gun work. On the
way out

we saw the enormous full
November moon in a strange
red shadow and learned at
Mt. Storm that it was in
eclipse. We viewed it
coming out in various stages
in the most dramatic

setting posture all the way to the Lanesburg Valley. Beautiful.

Wednesday 19 November
clear again, drawing hot,
perfect weather 65°

Stony River Ridge Road

Price: 1 k.

1 net (?)

Shiphramine Run Road on
Stony River Ridge North

road 3-3

1 shot - 1 hit

adult cock grouse; inter,
crop: ^{14½"} new round flower buds, ^{fan} redness, green leaves, ^{3pm.} 0
stick birds. Draw from ^{flame like (knights)} to top of the cold and cut the

Stony River Ridge road $3\frac{1}{2}$ miles from Rt 93 with good cover only at
the far end. Talked to couple of bow hunters who had seen few grouse, said in
bottom "near beaver dams." We made a good time with Price walking
like a dream, hitting all the good ^{holes} in the huge terrain.

This, on a day of this kind, is pure magnificence up here, the magnificence of the land being more than you can conceive without seeing it. At one high point we could see the upper end of the new Stony River Dam and the breast of the old Stony River Dam and we were within a mile or less of the latter. If only the grass was here as they once were.

We got up at 2:30 and drove to BT 93, crossing to the other side to explore the other exposure that faced less than three other streams. The strip-mined road is wide and level and we parked and went down on to the flat cover - good - to the left (north). We walked the road - the best possible way to hunt it and Brian walked well on the thick edge cover along the bulldozed margin. At one place we saw the tracks of a large grouse in direct mud and nearby I stepped below to investigate a corner. Brian came in and, as I returned to the road, began ground-trailing outrageously. Up to this time he hadn't done this today. But now he moved right into a grouse that flushed low straightaway from the weedy edge below the road. I mounted, felt my right shoulder inhibit me but held on the bird and fired regardless - and hit it! The grouse flattened down in an erect position and Brian, who had marked it, was after it. He caught it well into the flat in cover, probably 70 yards from the shot. Brian is a great grouse dog - possibly my greatest one. Today his work on this bird was not, and the act the put on after capturing it was all of his worst - refusing to retrieve, tho we wanted and tried to let him do it his own. Instead, he lay there snarling it and looking exasperating. We'd let Brian come with us today hunting - to let her leave her in

the car — and I thought she would stimulate Bruin to deliver the bird, spurred by competition. Instead when she approached, he not only drove her away, he attacked her and rolled her over viciously. Actually it was mostly show but it must have scared the poor little thing, tho she couldn't seem to accept it as true.

Finally I day went to him but Bruin again tried to bluff. Out of portance now, I said, "That dog needs a kick in the bottom!" "Give it to him," and today did — from the heart. Not until I went to him did he grab the gun and try to keep me from taking it, and I led him by the collar — face returning — to a spot somewhere resembling a retriever. The gun was a huge carb — lacking a few tail feathers in what must be close to as large as the dog tail at home. We'll see.

This was a good break for me, at least. After we got back to the road, trying to get Bruin to come to us to the car, we saw him far down the road, running into the lawn with and bumping two guns — one of which took the road to the next shoulder of tall woods.

Following, we circled into large beech woods and got a great point on a tree top taught but it must have been where the ground just down and later left. That was it, then we hurried back the road to the car.

Left at 4:15 and drove into light sunniness to the A-Farm road and took a ~~west~~ ^{left} ~~south~~ ^{right} to the Fair over but

not 'cock' cover as we'd hoped. Hunted $\frac{3}{4}$ of an hour and coming back
had a fine point but no bird - heard several shot Turkeys. Brian had been
ground-hunting earlier - so badly I had to get touch him with the collar -
something we must do and break this up.

A beautiful day - third in a row, with another forecast for tomorrow.

Thursday

Tuesday 20 November Edelman

Sunny, mild, changing to cloudy, windy.
1:30 - 4:15 } moved 3 (not new) - 4
4:30 - 5:30 } 3 $\frac{3}{4}$ hrs. 1 shot - 0
AF moved 1 - 1
2 shots - 1 hit

Brian: 2 hits.

1 hit.
1 miss
1 not

Rehobeth

moved 1 (not new) - 1
1 shot - 0

1 hit.
4 hits.

moved 5 - 5
3 shots - 0

Started about the same time as Tuesday, but today hunted the upper
margin of the Edelman ridge in reverse, getting a point at the
"evening" corner - a cock that Brian was not at first certain about. I
firmed him with bold! - not bad policy in these uncertain points to
obtain more distant points on 'cock' (thus I still held to the go on method)
and missed a ~~single~~ climbing flushed, to catch the bird suddenly with the
left barrel still high and leveling. We let Brian take his turn &



OVER THE SHOULDER.

(Changed sketch to show)

just the 'cock, well out, and bring it nearly to hand. - an adult hen.

In the grapevine tangles and brush piles, Penn seemed to get went as expected to develop into game but tho' it was extremely hot and intense, nothing came of it. Finally, on top in excellent grapevine cover, he had a good prospectus far ahead but the game left before I could get to him, a bird as followed down over to the upper stretch of marsh Penn as it comes down the hill but with no success.

Covering the prime grapevine area on the shoulder of the hill, I despatched action but was disappointed until we were back in the ravines where wild bird endures of nesting. He had remarked about a

glorious of what looked like a settler tent in the cover below us but we heard no voice or whistle a dog bell and I have to hold to the thought that it might have been a deer flag. I had come across a purplish empty shell at my feet (there'd been no shooting earlier just as I started out) when my eye was taken by the motion of ground flashing from Bruin. It was on me, in an opening above, before I saw it and it went out of shot would have been a good view. I saw my gun when it should reappear from behind trees and to this moment can't say that I saw it come in view. I must have, for I fired and the gunns cut 90° up on his brow and seemed to settle on top. They remained that it acted oddly, and as I hurried up, I saw the ground reflect from what they could see was a flash point as Bruin came on it. We followed over the hill and landed coming down the pasture to the car from above, driving in a hurry as usual, to Belchertown for the last bit of daylight.

at the gate we were delayed by two dogs deer hunting (coming of the Davis boys), then got thru the gate to have Bruin do exactly what he'd done Tuesday — go on point at the first clump of thorns. This time the bird was a few yards further along, flashing about a chance to shoot. Almost at once, Bruin hit a second point on the edge twenty yards or so beyond, and I hurried up a low flying cack that I must have shot at too quickly, running, and fired again knowing the bird was coming out of my line of fire but unable to stop.

There is a sense of too much hurried action in this extract and to the how we usually game at *Belchertown* comes from one West Virginia and Regional History Center

(4a)

likely spot to the next — which is almost exaggeration — and while I
have the darkling way by cover this, I get a bit too keyed up, I
suppose. Brian looked out a point from mid-stream and full speed —
spread out and over and almost staring with the intensity of the
point.



FILED UP.

I walked on past of him, bulging my eyes to watch Brian as I tried to
keep a universal focus for the flesh, but my attention went to the
woodchuck huddled on the ground back under a hawthorn and even then
I could identify it as a male. I had to nearly stop as it before it flushed
and then it went straight up and over the hawthorn on my left
while I stupidly fired at a spot at least a foot behind the bush
and not over three yards away. This kind of shooting is illogical.

In spite of my ~~first~~ performances, Brian swept on and I'll
say there was no ground-training here — simply low rearing but
beautiful dog work gathering up the low stratum of scent. He
was over on the far side of the ~~transom~~ and ~~when he~~ in training

he had pointed the second gun (when were they today?) Brian's bell went quiet and, marking him on the basket, I made a fast circle & the right to find an opening to come in from in front. Once there, and seeing the impossibility of a shot if I walked with the lead over the flesh, I called to May, who was approach Brian from the road behind him, to walk on and flesh. I saw Brian pointing straight toward me in the posture of his photo of the "absolute point" in TurBD, then over a motion that was more like an animal darting than a 'cock springing', and May called "Grazal!!". The bird stayed within the basket on its climb and then came out high and well ahead, right-crossing. I had the gun to one my left barrel (with a gross load in it) and I deliberately, running them and ahead of the bird, firing at the paper load — and didn't touch it. I view shots like this in front — high birds clearing over well out as in a small Pekin, from a starting, and always it seems a likely chance, missing them. I nearly always break a clay target thrown like that, by simply holding on it as I run, scarcely aware of getting far ahead before firing. And I have dropped occasional quails this way, but too often I miss and I think its because I try to lead too consciously — the wing having to be slowed down for the distant shot after the gun, I should merely

more than the bird's head, especially
when using the left barrel.

This additional miss didn't do
much to settle me. You know
you'll get no more chances at

hours for days and it seems hopeless when you fluff a shot like
that.

We hurried back to hunt the flat in from the road,
missed only one woodcock and a few pheasants by Brum - the bird
singing before I got near - and another that flushed ahead of Brum
without his being aware, I am sure. They walked it toward the gate and
the car light was nearly dark by now and we gave up. Wish
we'd been here an hour earlier. This is the end of shooting
in W. Va until after the deer season - tomorrow and Saturday
being off days to give my right shoulder a chance to hunting.
Great Coverts, there - and numerous great setts, Brum.
Drove home from our Canan trip from here.

Monday 24 November

partly cloudy, cool, 45°
damp and beautiful

Hawke Place "The Quest for Quality" GSS/9

(52)

1:35 - 5:20 = $3\frac{3}{4}$ hrs.

scored 5 (2 new) - 7

1 shot - ① hit

adult hen: inter - very dark bird.
crop: 5 p.m. grapes, round (not full).

Brian: 2 prod.

1 ko fo

1 ret

We started the "Pennsylvania Walk" (deer room at home) with this favorite covert. Conditions was excellent after a crisp frost and we first hunted the flat instead of the knob. Brian made a point - suddenly crouch - not far below the "bas" road and we heard two grouse flush toward the hill. Soon after, as Brian worked the flat farther out, Iay called "Grouse!" and I saw a hen sail over east along the road. Not wanting to double her from Brian and scale ~~south~~ ^{east} along the road. Not wanting to double back we followed the flat toward the leading clearing, Iay hearing #4

so well ahead of us. Brian walked stunningly today covering the terrain well but within a comfortable range. We hunted out the road ~~south~~ ^{east} south of the clearing and near the brink that lets on toward the far run area I saw a grouse hop up on branches of a tree top beautifully as Brian worked near, but without scent, and take off. I worked it by a large hemlock on the ledge bank and we found for a bit of frost. I was feeling draggy (I suspect the respiration) and I had to stop frequently, feeling draggy.

After starting out once more, I tried to run Brian across the small run when I felt the grouse might have sailed in but Brian had to turn - his nice pattern having been interrupted by an stop for dinner, moving toward the likely

area, still hoping to bring Brian that way, I flushed the grouse mostly in line as I'd estimated but too far out & most the bird going up the rear face of the knob in all likelihood. We hunted the main road in what is as good marshes cover as anyone will conceive, especially on the far slope in cutting that appears perfect stage. With time going by, we turned back and hunted to top back, then followed the main log road to the broken clearing, getting a great front from them on the upper side at the base of the knob where two of the grouse seemed to have gone after his productive earlier. This is happening so many times this season I feel it indicates grouse lifting for sheet gas.

We hunted on down the main log road, covering the west side with no action today, then across the big prairie to try for the rumpuck we word last time — nothing — and at quarter to six turned back in failing light and clouds to hunt the flat back to the last road. We heard nothing here though Brian was calling his heart out. As we left the prairie, Kay had said, "It's still not too late for something to happen," and I offered her what I invited a good bet. But as we reached the last road and started toward the car, I saw Brian running along the road and back went on the back, then turn and walk at head low but just on the measure of actual ground-trailing, on the lower side. For a moment he pointed — ground — then moved on to relocate, again walking low, in a series of points, finally pinpointing his location, pointing thirty yards below the old mine and ~~hunted back toward~~

me, as nearly as I could set in the semi-dark. It was damp with a
wonderful cold quality, the time when a grown will lie, if at all down
lie, but I pushed to Brin as fast as I could make it instead
of waiting on the hope of a flash my direction on the road. It is well
I didn't wait, for the grown let me get only ^{within} to about fifteen
 yards and seemed to lose nearly straight to the tree tops in an
 away-left-acutely-rising flesh that I took at its peak, seeing
 with that imperishably gratifying feeling the grown fold and ^{so nearly} straight
 down. It had been a bit at all of thirty yards — a dark form
among dark forms against a dim sky — ~~—~~ (I was
 using the Rev. 3-1 $\frac{1}{2}$ -t & scatter shell as an experiment to try to
 open the too-tight Purdy right barrel. Whatever it did — and I —
 was right as I heard ~~the~~ ^{the} baying behind me — heavenly sound.)
 Brin didn't hold but went immediately for the birds he had marked — tho'
 I gave him a late go fetch. Once they he went with his crazy act,
 mauling the grown, baying at me and ignoring my command to fetch.
 This time I tried something different. Instead of mauling ~~to~~ to him, I
 had ~~bay~~ more away with me, but it didn't work; nor did the whistle
 a my voice. Finally seeing myself beat, and with nothing to lose,
 I called and whistled, then had the two Brin with the electric
work. He yelped and jumped away from the fallen grown,
 but as I repeated my whistle again as if that were the reason for
 the drink, he went back and pulled up the grown and brought

(55)

at the long return to us without once laying it down as he always does - when he does that much - and sat at my master's holding the gun for a prolonged period while I commanded him for a great retriever. This is a new use for the collar, but if the dog knows what he should be doing - and isn't - a touch of the shock will put him straight. Or, at least, it will with a dog as intelligent as Bruin.

intelligent as Brian.
Key took words of the delivery - a dark adult hen - using
~~Ekstaekroma~~ Ekstaekroma more often than is
extra sensitive for dark conditions, but if it doesn't, and we doubt
that it will, Key says she'll treat every black frame of that
negative. It was one of those last moment experiences that makes a
day as no other moment can. And it did all three of us worlds
of good. Draw home in a glow. What a event.

Tuesday 25 November
cold, cloudy, snow showers
developing into flurries. 37°
 $2:35 - 3:50 = 1\frac{1}{4}$ hr.

Father Run

Brown: beautiful effort.

Waited for the forecast snow that didn't come and with
breaks of sunlight and clouds, couldn't stay home, and drove to Penng.
again today to hunt the skinned terrain on the north side of Fifty Run -
and most of the blarsted property. The snow set in as we got out of the car.

(56)

dd by roads - enough cleared area to last for days of hunting.
We obviously hit it at an adversus time - falling snow. Brian had several
finds that had to be red-hot scent of grouse that certainly had been there
just before (lifted?), and I have never seen him hunt with more
frenzy, racing from one spot to the next, pointing, relocating, and
hunting with intensity that made my skin crawl. We did not
move a bird but this is certainly grouse country to be hunted on a little
day. Not somewhat wet & cold.

Wednesday 26 November
cool, partly cloudy, 36°
2:05 - 5:30 - 3 $\frac{3}{4}$ hr.

West Finley, Wash. Co.

maled 4 - 7 flushed
2 shots - 0

Brian: 1 find.

Once more - and I hope for the last time - I tried this
fabled southwestern Penna. country, with Gary Schweitzer. We
met in Waynesburg at 12:30 left home at 11:05) 43 miles; and drove
 $\frac{3}{4}$ of an hour and 25 miles further thru unappetizing open farm terrain
that is all hills with pasture everywhere and woodlots that are all
overly tall and open. Parked on a hilltop (Morris's land) 15 miles
north of RT 70 and Claysville.

This trip finally impressed me with what this country
amounts to at present: a residual grouse population that may have
suffered an "explosion" but never was; simply unhampered and now
cut down from game pressure.

The terrain is impossibly unpleasant to hunt and consists of scattered and limited patches of fair cover (a thorn thicket here, ^{quapaw's or} a briny ravine there) separated by more accurately scattered) than ~~the~~ huge expanses of barren open woodland - locust, hawthorn etc - cut by deep gullies that cannot be avoided and present straight-up-and-straight-down climbing. Hunting consists of moving one from one of these ^{patchy}, ^{flanking it a quarter mile across to the} next hill with no way to follow but down and up; then picking ^{then open woods} not hunting to the next patch or corner, which may be a half mile away, ^{on the next hilltop}. At last, at evening when you are tired and blown, you are faced with getting back up one of these gutbuster knobs to the car. If Michigan was difficult forting in swamp tangles, it was a pleasure to hunt as compared with this knob and open woods country; and both places have given me the realization that our home courts are incomparable. If we could push as hard at home - and I don't intend to - as we do in these alien courts, we would find as many geese, at least as they find now in Greene & Washington County, which is only from a few tens in a good day. Game shooting for me must be pleasure and you don't find it there. May expressed my feeling when she said she was glad we didn't find a lot of geese there, for if we had, she wouldn't go back anyway.

George Bird Evans Papers
West Virginia and Regional History Center

(58)

delight and a beautiful little thing in motion, floating over the ground in a graceful fast lop with a lovely high and merry tail. She has a nice range well out but hunting to the gun, and the shot goes low to get scent, when she points as she did once, she does it with a very high head and tail, actually lifting for the next. I was quite impressed and think she may be the best of Bruce's pups so far.

Gary had me sit on her front - legged out; I had a sudden chance when I walked into a tightly lying group I think was a reflect, and I tried as I crawled and crept out on the trees and ruined. Bruce found her laid on the next flesh - a lovely point up the open woods slope, head well up, but tail horizontal. The group flushed thirty yards from him, across me and low and I tried about I am certain was a two - long shot for the right barrel. I was aiming the spread - load and it won't reach that far.

We reached the car at about dark, tired and fed - up with that terrain, and I hope I have the sense to forget it. Gary saw a mica rock flash back from the dogs. ~~I ignored this difficult country in a way that made me proud~~ and impressed Gary!

Friday 28 November

Cloudy, hazy, cool 34°

2:00 - 3:15 } 2½ hrs.

3:30 - 4:45 } 2½ hrs.

Far Cucumber

round 2 - 2

0

Bear

We hunted the excellent upper basin behind Glenn Burd's house - can't visualize better thicket cover but more nothing in spite of a grand point in the swampy area in the bottom. This should hold a dozen grubs - acres of cut-over regrowth with lashings of log roads.

Returned to the car and, after eating, ~~and to the usual area at the~~ George Bird Evans Papers
West Virginia and Regional History Center

bottom of the hill, finding a jeep parked at the old school. Whether this accounted for lack of birds I can't say - the rabbit hunter, named Cleve (?) said they had moved now.

We parked them trackless thick over - all good by comparison with the Washington Co. West Fairley terrain and cover we'd been in on Wednesday with Harry Schwitzer - to the transverse hollow and returned by the log road, then cut up over the front of very thick cover and to the car, where a quail flushed above the road as I was removing a thorny stick from Brian's tail after the first bird of the day. Roused by this, we put Brian up in the area and got hot reaction where the quail had flushed. Crossing the road, Brian began walking the dense cover there. I became involved with fogging glasses and handed my gun to Kay. I was caught with a clip-on in one hand and my glasses in the other as a grouse flushed, crossing the paved road in a grand open right-to-left crossing flush. Kay tried to instinctively point the opened Purdy at the bird as I stood helpless. The day ended on that frustrated note, altho I am not sorry to have had no shot under the circumstances. A pointed bird would have been something else.

We had passed yesterday - Thanksgiving - tho the weather opened to a grand afternoon but we were somewhat tired after Wednesday's hunt in the steep hills and because a holiday is no time to hunt in Pennsylvania. This cover in all the Far Limestone area is excellent. I wonder if a hunt up the hollow along where we park would be a good choice?

Saturday 29 November

cool, cloudy, 42°
brief spritzes,

$\frac{1}{4}$ hr. } $1\frac{3}{4}$ hrs.
 $\frac{1}{2}$ hr. }

Dinner Bell

0

Fair Run

0

Brian

The last day of Peuna. warm until after deer season and
Christmas. Saturday is no time to find cover unheated in Peuna. as
well as holidays. No car at Dinner Bell corner and we covered it well,
but there was a barrage of deer - rifle shooting for all around. No reason
why gun should not be in this good cover - exactly as it was when we
covered it some years back - except that it has been bounded regularly
and is clearly shot-out.

Returned to the car at 3:30 - ate a bit (I was having
nausea and dizziness problems - and drove to the Fair Run by
way - starting back to run into fresh footprints on the road - with
a dog. (There had been a Peuna. red-orange station wagon parked at
our usual Hanchel cover). Two young Pei boys came out from
when we was headed, then saw tracks everywhere as wanted to hunt.
Tired and even more dizzy, we returned to the car and quit.

Peuna. is too hard hunted. Can do with a quiet rest at home.

Monday & December
cold, cloudy, 40°
1:50 - 5:10 = 3 $\frac{1}{2}$ hr.

Mathews

Nov 3 (1 new) - 3
whet - 0

Brian: 2 prod.

Starting after the deer season, hopes high and to one of our best counts. Escorted all afternoon by two charming pups out of a pack of five from the Mathews' trailers. One, a calico black and tan and white; the other a German shepherd type - the former less attractive but the bolder and sharper, the latter ~~more~~ more oriented to people - Kay. They stayed with us for 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ miles or more of rough hunting, so much nicer than people.

Brian found his first grouse on the hillside above the log road, working in a mobile point while I jumbled my way over rocks and trees and then blowdown basket. The grouse flushed 15 yards or so ahead from an open spot and gave me a nice open left-crossing rising shot but for too short a view, approaching intervening trees as I mounted and fired, feeling myself snap snap above the bird instead of swinging them. I have had so few shots at grouse for the past two years I don't know how to handle a gun, especially one as light as the Pankey. The Fox, being nearer, would have been on more nearly, I think. It was a great point with Brian holding steady until ordered on, and I begrimed the bird that miss.

It undoubtedly flushed all the way to the abandoned coke and ~~#1~~ Tarleton Humberman's, and as we were back the ridge and up and over the glorious cover to us far beyond the open fields, when Brian heard, (a mere nearly the bird went out ahead of him) #2, only a round to Kay.

We had to eat - with the two puppies very close to us - then hunted around and up the old fields, hunting the ~~down~~ margin of the ridge cover.

locating a "former" log road, we hunted back the good ridge lower and about the level of the first point. Brum, looking along him, stiffened into a nice point but, as I fought thru fallen thicket over to reach him, he moved on and a grouse flushed from above his pointing site. If he had held staunchly I might have had a shot, but he was apparently moving to relocate. We tried to follow out the ridge and went all the way to the ridgebottom (where I saw a large white deer flag mount) but did not find a bird.

Three grouse heard in this grand cover in 3 hours plus, no lead, and I come on four this day — even with a good point a few behind me — feeling somewhat sad and "beat." I wonder if the birds will come back. Anyways, I feel I need a day's rest from hunting between each time out, not to build up strength (I have a lot of that) but to build up optimism and eagerness after each disappointing effort & find grouse that aren't there.

Thursday 11 December

Sunny, clear, 45°

2:00-4:00 } 2 $\frac{3}{4}$ hrs.
4:15-5:00 } 2 $\frac{3}{4}$ hrs.

Glover / Wright

Brown: perfect range,

quartering & response.

Conditions ideal; camp.

Parted at Glen Place and hunted along old road & back up hollow then magnificent cow — slacked regrowth/scrubbing with enough snow to reveal tracks. Not a sign of birds, tho Brum hunted gallantly. Hunted Frank Wright place and hunted the corner thicket and around the first flat area (found a new bulldozed road — excellent to hunt). Not a bird. Saw human footprints on edge but not ~~anywhere~~ ^{road}.

Friday 12 December ¹⁴

Ft. Morris Thoms

(63)

Cloudy, warm, damp 45°
2:20 - 5:10 = 2 $\frac{3}{4}$ hrs.

missed 1 (new) - 1

1 perd.
1 k o p
1 ret.

'25

1 shot - 1 hit o/p.

yearling cock: semi-roded

crop: one fragment of leaf (fern) 2:40 This was the day it happened.

Phoned Ward Moyers last evening and he reported hearing "a covey of six" grouse on the hill above Lake Noel. Feeling this with another try, we parked at the usual pull-off and hunted the flat on top - excellent thorn cover - with Brian carrying it like an angel. No action until we reached the wooded ravine where I shot the first bird this season. As I walked down the gap on the old road, I saw Brian hot scent on my left on the steep shoulder of the ridge in scattered low thorns. I tried to reach him promptly but intervening tree trunks and brush and thorns and bad footing gave me problems. Brian had been running in short sprints after the first scent, now quite going solid, trying to locate it to a pinpoint, and as I got around the cover, he froze, pointing with his head stretched low and turned ^{down} toward the steep slope of the ravine, a picture on the brink along my eyelid, not a hair stirring. I fought my way to the opening

below him in time to

hear the gun roar
out from off the bank
and cross left about



they just caught it then the thin curtain

George Bird Evans Papers

West Virginia and Regional History Center

(64)

of trees and it fell on the far slope with the water of the lake showing beyond. There had been the feeling that the shot might be too nearly on water but the bird was well this side of it. Brian held gorgeously at the shot and my ~~two~~ staccato had! then moved on at go fetch, and soon located the fallen grouse. This time I think Brian remembered the last retrieve & the electronic collar, for, with very little delay, he brought the grouse almost all the way to me, putting it down only twice and finally just short of me. I then went to him and he picked it up as I reached for it - and we got a final snort and still shot of him holding it, the tail nicely unspoiled. It was a large yearling grouse, but an the leg and wing (both legs). This is no grand when it at last happens — the ~~really~~ superb point, the nice shot at 35 yards crossing well up (sway them and fire at a spay ahead)

(last.)



We left that area for another year and headed to the bottom and the Conaway Grade, expecting to meet grouse and possibly a bluejay, but we headed all the way up around the Conaway farm - a long hard, thin woodland cover for both species and 'cark as well - but now not a feather. It was a long pull to the car, with Brian working the tattered tangles below the road in the half-dark with no birds. (Would not have shot another one in here.) Still with the good fortune of our bird over a point, we felt in a glow. It's no good. (lost or won)

December
Tuesday 16 November

cold sunny, warming 42°
trace of snow, mud

2:20-5:05 2 $\frac{3}{4}$ hrs.

Cherry Run

new 1 new - 2

1 shot - 0

Saw blue heron fly over.

Brian: 1 prod.

This grand covert seemed perfect, ideal temperatures, moist from snow, but no sign of game — not even tracks — ~~and we hunted~~ though up the east side, returned via very muddy bulldozed log road, and after short trek up west side returned because of glaring sun that, as it lowered, wiped out vision facing south (memory of last time). West side is best cover although there are comelless piles of stumps on east side that should harbor game for the next ten years — just freshly cut.

Intending to go to car and hunt Hog Run (lower), we had reached the old clearing at the road. It looked so inviting, I stepped in and waited for Brian to run across and cover it. He did and came to a lovely point — high — that seemed to ooze over him and freeze him sturdy as the scut went home. He was pointing toward an edge of



A SLOW TAKE.

thorns that bordered the road bank, very dense cover I couldn't get into. I lay ~~was~~ at the road and heard my Point! coming back toward us.

Brian reestablished his point, holding steadily as

I waited. Then I saw him lower his head and run in — horribly the bird running out? — but no excuse for ~~West Virginia~~ ^{the} ~~game~~ ^{game} ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~part~~ ^{part}.

roar, climbing left-quartering then the open gap and from the far side. I knew it was a good chance, mounted and fired, feeling myself surey them, but it wasn't good enough. At the shot the bird flinched, seeming to drop a few inches in its line of flight but going on without missing a beat or losing a feather. I was puzzled - I'd shot one & it was a hit. No chance for the left hand - it seems they seldom is - and I'd reached the bird into the tall trees at the end of the clearing - not a long flight. Brian had held at the shot and I sent him on. I was using the A&E model board 18-gu. 1 $\frac{1}{8}$ -7 $\frac{1}{2}$, a good shell but a poor shot.

I heard the bird refresh well as we approached the woods and that was it. Walking back the "Central" Road, we spoke to a Wayne Miller in a passing pickup (he is the coal operator on the ridge above them.) Said he had seen 3 geese in the small stand of trees between this road and Rd 45 about 600' cover. We tried this back to the car and then Brian ~~saw~~ an exciting bit of auto just across the highway fence but no bird.

Wednesday 17 December
cold, partly sunny. 42°
1:45 - 3:15 } 3 hrs.
3:35 - 5:00 }

Edithman
moved 3 ^{not now} - 3
0

Brian: good hunting but strangely unable to point the gun.

Rehoboth

round 2 not now - 2
whist - 0

This, we know, was too late for woodcock, but something made us go back there on this lucky day and hunt again. We parked at the old house, hunted along the left edge of road and crossed to the "upper corner" where Brian put on a spectacular bit of ~~nest~~ hunting in the thicket in

the open. Obviously there had been a bird there, but not now. We hunted the top corner, then dropped to the lower level, intending to hunt out the thorns and return high on the ridge. But not far along, Kay whistled to the right - I thought her cap had been pulled off by a thorn - and she said a grouse had flushed from Brum just above us, going over the trees to the top of the ridge. Stepping back to the clearing in case another flushed, I heard and saw two more take off low, coming out in the open meadow grass cover and zooming up the draw - too fast to shoot. Why Brum had moved into them without a point, I can't imagine, unless he was ground-trailing.

One of the birds had alighted just at the edge of cover above us and, feeling at his head it marked, we moved back but did not find it. After pausing to eat a bit, we hunted the top and throughout the top corner where I expected one or all three birds, but couldn't find a trace. We gave up hunting the valley as we had spent so much time coming back, and even hunted the Clyde Davis edge up the car, in case the birds had pitched over. Nothing.

Driving to Relobeth, we got started there at 3:35, and Brum couldn't believe there was no 'live hay', making game all over the first edge when he usually finds any. The cover seems so empty without them, and Brum was determined to cover all the thorns, so we followed. At an far end, I saw my hens back south and hunted along the "inside" trail near where I'd covered the high ridge corner over Brum's last point last time. Thus time the grouse exploded from ~~out of a thorn bush~~ in a brief

(68)

right crossing low flushed at about 15 or 18 yards. I managed to mount, sunny though and fair - all pens distinct - and saw the does seem to lower its flight line to a couple of yards a few above the ground, but it disappeared in the thicket before I could see more. Hoping for more, I called Brian on to search which he did but without success.

Surmising to the right, too far for the gun to be - and, halting scent, I heard a quiver that flushed back toward the thorns and the edge woods.

I count this ~~the~~ the second bird we find in here.

We followed his flight back but found no trace. Why do we seldom get a refresh? Great terrain, I fear at.

Wednesday 24 December Matthews/Humboron

Brian:

Cold, clear, sunny 32° & less moved 2 now - 2
2" a mass of snow on ground 1 shot - 0
2:30 - 5:00 $2\frac{1}{2}$ hrs.

good work

Christmas Eve hunt to one of the best prospects we have. Parked at corner of woods behind Tarleton Humboron's house.

Cold, clear, day. Dry soapy snow covering rocky footing. Hunted nothing in the Humboron hillsides for last part of an hour, then crossed to the flat field bordering Matthews briar bank.

Finally, having hunted down a cleared road to the main Matthews field along the lane, we heard a boy calling his dogs & follow him out the lane (not hunting) trying to get them away from the reverent pack of pups who was crossing the field. Holding back to avoid letting the pups see us, we stalked quietly.

George Bird Evans Papers
West Virginia and Regional History Center

had been perched in the protecting mass of dead white oak leaves in the top of the tree at the field's edge. It was an easy, like the high school morning target at #8 station and, unwarned, I had to turn and try for the right-quartering overhead departing bird shooting thru intervening tree branches, mostly in hope that was not rewarded.



I think this reaction of the grouse, indicates its fear of the human voice as compared with the sight of man. It had been sitting in that oak tree with the boy and the several dogs in clear view. Kay, Brian, and I were certainly conspicuous by our presence down the hillside. We were much closer than the others but we was quiet. The flock could have been out the edge and along the margin of the woods away from both intruding factors, but the bird came right over us.

We followed around the bank to the north just to be certain the grouse had not been hit but Brian searched hard and carefully with ~~the~~ no result.

Crossing the flat field on top, we hunted around the "back lower road," then turned and walked to the "border road," followed it to the shadowed ravine at the end of the hemlock clumpings, climbed to the top. A flushed hen a tangle of brush took ^{me} off guard - the grouse keeping low until far out before starting. This it had been near enough for a shot at the flushed. This was within several yards your tracks when we had hunted this area starting out - so the grouse had to have moved in later. Ron Brian had been hunting every possible piece of cover no valiantly hidden and many of them on. Paul George, too.

It was late, it was cold and treacherous, and we went to the open
flat on top and crossed toward the place the car was parked in wind and
blizzard (out of the southeast) it made our faces ache. I dug passed and
picked a Xmas bouquet of laurel leaves from a small bush, black and
stiff from the cold, and nearly froze. Some days you can't manage it.
The Christmas we stay was gray and heavy with two streaks of pink, dull,
dragged across like paint; not a touch of color anywhere else except King's
violent flame-orange vest. Just a huge magnificent black and white
land of mountains (Run into Dayton Friend nosing around on Amherstrom. "Dad as of
you'd never seen it," King said.) I did and he responded well!

Monday 29 December Henchel

Cool, sunny & cloudy 42° mixed ① - 1

2" snow on ground.

2 - 4:53 = $2\frac{3}{7}$ hrs.

Brian:

Hunting so hard.

In hope of a post-birthday hunt, we started the afternoon
Christmas scene in Penna. Snow on ground deeper up than before
cover glorious. Brian found fresh tracks just above the last road
that appeared to be two groups that had moved out. We crossed the
flat, the cover beyond the powerline, and back to cover on south of
downline to longling clearing — one set of tracks here that King thought
were related to pumbb flesh — we have to count everything.
He also saw tracks near powerline and road on the flat. That east.
This is as hopeless as hunting
the woods for grapevines land. Nothing. This is drastic.
the woodchucks in January hoping for cork.

New Years Day

NEMACOLIN

(71)

cold, cloudy
snow flurries.
34°

2:30 - 5:00

1 hen pheasant

1 chukar

1 shot chukar - 1 hit op.

1 shot pheasant - 1 hit (out of two)

Brian: 8 hits.

2 ^{to} ^{op.} chukars (1 Eds)
2 not. " (1 Eds)

The best way to use a day too full of snow or everything to hunt in open cover. Met Ed & Lindsay Belak at Nemacolin shop and after checking in drove to Five Forks Glade shooting grounds. Birds had been put out earlier and we found at lunch cabin to give dogs a chance to get the edge off, then drove to crossroads. I have never seen the cover look more inviting, the snow like heavy foliage or grasses and shrubs and trees.

We started with Brian and his double granddaughter Biddy, intending to hunt the powerline field, but Brian immediately went on point behind Ed's jeep on the SW corner of the roads, a nice solid point into the margin on the bank above. I didn't know them, but later was told Biddy was pointing on the lower ridge. I walked up from above and saw a chukar run out on the snow in the open field. Biddy, who had left her point, came running from down the field and nearly ran into the chukar, which ran a few yards past and lifted, too far west and too nearly on Biddy for a shot. Kay & Ed walked it down in the cover east of the SE field between stands of pines.

Biddy had now gone back on a short point below the jeep and a chukar flushed east across the open field - no shot, with too much confusion and too many people about.

We hunted the powerline field down as planned and cut across to SE field to find Brian ^{now on point} Ed & flushed and taking the shot but the bird lifted over the clump of trees and came

directly over Ray & me in a weak flight, scarcely clearing⁽²⁾ Ray's head - no shot. Weak as the flight had been, we failed to relocate, and then hunted across to the N-S road and followed Chukar #1. Brian hit a point exactly where it should have been but after I walked to him, he attempted to pin point it with no results. We had hunted beyond into the cover - too many to penetrate - and Brody had gone out of control (deer scent, probably) when I turned back and found Brian frozen tight, again in the area of the last point. We waited for Ray to draw near for photos and for Brody to come (he didn't) and finally I walked in. Again no bird, this Brian was cutout. I had him relocate and again he pointed at his feet in the snowy clumps of grass. By digging in with my hat toe I uncovered the back of the bird (it looked dead), completely burrowed into the snowy grass and covered, as it started out, running. Brian caught it, certain it was a cripple but he dubbed it at my admiration and the bird flushed low - away - right - dropping at my shot less than 20 yards. Brian wasn't holding steady to shot on this one, and retrieved it for a few more and 35 mm. photos.

With Brody and me with us, we hunted back to the cars and Ed changed dogs. Before we could get organized, Brian was again on point on the lower edge of the north corridor, moving in and freezing in the road with the bird on the edge of the upper side. Laurel was in another action now and moved in *With Brian, pointing with him, Ed* George Bird Evans Papers
West Virginia and Regional History Center

(73)

took the shot, having to pull up the bird, which consequently, then dropped at his second shot. Brin again tries to retrieve - I was very I couldn't hold him for Samuels to do the honors. This retrieve was a bit sporadic in that I tried to pull Brin away for Samuels to go to the bird, but ended with a retrieve by Brin, a demand.

By the time we got organized, Brin was again on point on the lower side of the road, not 20 yards from this action, and this time Samuels went in without, taking a pointing and bumped the chicken, which flushed in a nice high climb but directly behind a locust a cherry tree all the way and I could not shoot. We walked the bird to the Sparrows field down along the east road and after maneuvering the dogs that way, got a good solid point by Brin. I waited for the shot while Ed worked Samuels, who pointed, but the chicken would not rise but then and again Brin broke and caught it. I got it away from him but the bird, again running even when I try caught and tossed it up, ran into the edge cover and Samuels had it, delivering it to Lindsey.

These birds were all good for only one good first flush; afterwards are too weak to fly well - characteristic of pen-raised birds. Also they had been put out poorly - all four chickens dropped after crossed, from the truck, within thirty yards. The four hen ringnecks had apparently all been drubbed the same way at the top of the hill. One of these flushed from a flush point of Samuels, leaving the country, he next was found perch'd in West Virginia and Regional History Center

a tree on the north bank of the road. After much effort, Ed got it to flush and I dropped it as an overhead ¹⁴ away-left shot. Found returned to Ed. Ed saw Bruce on point ^{about} ~~and~~ us but the confusion of the return flushed the pheasant from Bruce, again into a tree where the bird perched and refused to budge, then I shot the branch a foot from it with the left barrel. Finally we had to leave ^{it} and go on, hunting mostly top field and again into the bottom to the woods when they ^{it} suddenly left us to drive the cars to the lunch cabin where Ed & I hunted to them along the woods edge.

Bruce worked well today but always under control and covered the country well. Caught good points and solid in spite of the other dog. Biddy is an impressive little hunter for her eight months and handles well other than for deer distractions. Samel is a hard hunter, moves with less style than Biddy, but covers lots of country. Too out of control. Ed is faced with whether discipline when she is far out. This is part of being one of too many dogs, and not being hunted alone!

It was a good day to hunt and the air was magnificent. Previous shooting is better when done with one dog. The birds are always less than ideal as put down, but after the lack of action in ground birds this year, it is a good change - for change! Bruce is a great dog.

Tuesday 6. January

sunny, snow on ground 35°
perfect but too much snow
 $2\frac{1}{2}$ hrs.

Brown Hill

word 2-2

Bran: 1 prot.

75

2½ hrs. Main road up no doubt iced up (it was) so we drove up to the "Bates settlement" off Rt 26, parked and hunted to top ridge "cycle" and snowmobile "road", hunting around other grapevine cover along trail with no action the weather ideal looking - sun and clear sky, deep snow. Topping the hill above trail, I saw Brian hot went and begin a mobile point, moving across in front of my gun about fifty yards and going wild swaying back toward me. As I turned to him, I saw two sets of open tracks working his way. One gun flushed from beyond him, going too far away, and as Brian began excitedly covering the area, he ran into number 2, which flushed down Ray's way but also too far for a shot in any case.

We hunted to follow #1 and came to more new grizzly tracks at the paved road. Then we also encountered fresh bear tracks following them - footprints that had come all the way from Pt 26 along the pipeline. That was the end of action. Bear's predation was a ~~fact~~ was noted ~~recently~~, but this is not surprising.

~~From our most set of~~ beauty, but this is not sporting.

Wednesday 7 January

sun to start with, then
cloudy and temp drops.
and sleetly rain sent
us out of cover - wet.

2 hrs

Brown Hill

morel, new - 2
0

Brian: 1 post.

Never return the next day

We left at last there were birds here so

West Virginia and Regional History Center

(76)

to the three-state corner where I saw the only bird of the day go out from them - one that had made tracks yesterday. Followed down to the dump and I saw Brian flushed point but the bird went out at once. I seem never to see, never to hear, and most of all never to get to shoot at quail, even when there.

We covered the top with no success, saw another set of old quail tracks on the back road, then headed down the high lawn line with rain starting. Found car all there here but no birds. At 1st 26, we followed the berm to make time & the car, not one of the runs a ten cars that passed us should to avoid slowing us with road mud. One even seemed to come closer to us. What people

Tuesday 13 January
42°
Trk. 1

Hunkled Place

Brian:

$\frac{1}{2}$ hr.

Snow - too goddamned much snow and no pause. after $\frac{1}{2}$ hour we get rained out. Wet.

A hell of a season

Thursday 15 January

Cloudy

Snow still on, but
crusty. $2\frac{1}{2}$ hr.

Brown Hill

2 not new - 2

0

Brian:

too cold at times -
from frustration.

again parked at state line, hunting up the powerline. Finally got a flushed at 3 state marker in the Maryland wood, ahead of Brian who was too far to get a point. Followed with no result. Why can't I find bird the second time?

Circled back to regular corner, then to site of Brum's point (72)
last week. Calling for 1 day, my voice put up a groan - one of the
pair last week. That was it. The end of the Peewee season for me.
What a bust.

Monday 19 January

Snow on ground, sunny & cold
3 hrs.

Bishop Place

March 3-3

Brum

0

Parked at Marshall Shaffer's, hunting up back valley then finally
deep snow, heard 1 groan wild from Brum's direction over us into
pinion shipmine with no chance. Walked to top (found a new house
- George Bishop's on top at old homestead) met his boy John driving in.
Covered flat over with only one old track. Back west edge and down
road. Near bottom, more 2 groans - one from Brum who had walked
out but no point!!

Summer's Place above road - & about Boundary Park

Flat back of Fish Run School

March 2-2 in latter. Brum:
0 no points

Too nice to stay in but no one going out.

Monday 26 January Mack Dennis Shaolun's
 snow going, mostly bare
 Cloudy mild 59° The Muller Place / State Line
 $2\frac{1}{2}$ hrs. moved 1-1
 o

Brian:
 moved out too early,
 lack of birds

Frustrating.

Tuesday 27 February Maple Plains, Countyline
"Cope Ridge"

Wednesday 4 February

sunny, mild 40°

4" snow $1\frac{1}{2}$ hr.

Spurgeon School

moved 1-0
 o

Brian

Tried for the 4 hours. Steve Schmick had been deer hunting.

Heard, from brush pile with no point. Brian got no meat but ran into it.

Good cover on top of ridge south of powerline (old Myers cemetery) and
 good grapevine cover above paved road on Copeman (?). meat on

to Hazelton

Cherry Run

Brian

and slipped into

$\frac{1}{2}$ hr. moved 2 ($\frac{1}{2}$ new) -0
 o

opening on Art Teets land off "Lusted Road" where last time we had a
 good production (and a missed shot). Today they were two birds just on
 the NE edge of opening and they flushed. Before Brian got even near —
 they left? Nervous. Flew across impenetrable thicketland/rocky
 area I could not follow. Frustrating again.

Tuesday 10 February

Mason County "Uplift Ridge" (Evans town)⁷⁹

Warm, mostly sunny 65°

3 hrs.

ward 7 - 7

2 shots - 0

Bear: 3 prod.

To the favored land where Clyde Cartilon has run 13 to 23 geese in a day. Drives to Ripley via Parkersburg on Monday and stayed at the "real Mc Coy," a nice hotel. Clyde came up on Tuesday and took us in his Blazer through unbelievably red clay roads, driving back and forth three unpromising looking terrain - open farms and pitch pine bogs to the ridge of the Brambles hanging on a bank. A goose flushed as Clyde stepped outside the car, a good sign but a bad omen.

It took chains and four-wheel-drive to get up to this old abandoned farm and it did look good - much greenish dead growth and red cedar trees, but too much pitch pine. We hunted down a small hollow and Brian showed evidence of game recent but did not quite locate the birds. I did, moving with a rifle gallery and saw a goose flush at the upper margin of the bank on the edge of an open marsh like a bowlline. I did not have enough time to mount, but on a moment the flushed, right crossing them thicket and I running and fired after losing sight of the bird and missed.

Hunting back the other side of the open field on top and in dense pitch pine, Clyde heard #4. at an old cemetery on top the hill - Smith and Hall dead about 1880's - were a lot and related etc

(50)

an empty point by Brum. Took some photos here. Large cedar.

Hunting back the ridge top there what I think to unproductive pitch pines (too thick for shrubs and no birds), we came to a second abandoned farm smothered in honeysuckle. On the far edge, Brum was found on point, a grouse #5 - that flushed when I tried to alert Clyde who had already seen the point.

We followed out the ~~south~~ ridge in direction of flight and Brum again pointed in the pitch pine forest. This time I had the sense to alert Clyde with a hiss quickly and I walked in from the left ridge. Redruff had moved in without stopping and the grouse flushed low left-crossing. I saw them and heard Clyde's gun go off a split second before mine but neither hit the bird which I think may have been going down hill - low - as I saw them level. I get so little shooting anymore I don't handle the gun at all well. That grouse went out of the country as far as we were concerned.

Returning to the Plaza, we found for coffee and a rest - it was unusually hot and dry - and then hunted that ridge out, again with large pitch pines. Brum had his third productive at the far end of the ridge - a grouse that gave me no chance to reach the point - and we call it #7. Now in the oven Clyde had left 21 (probably not that many). *He is a very considerate companion,*

(81)

thoughtful about our placement and pleasure and more than generous about saving his Blazer and trouble of putting on chains. One of the nicest people I've met worth. It was disappoionting not to have hit one of the shots but we at least ward Jerry.

Wednesday 11 February

Beardam Hollow

(Brass Ton) Room Co.

Sandy day, running dealer 40°
wind 3-3
 $3\frac{1}{2}$ hrs.

Precia:

hard work

This was less promising cover, to me. A long drive into wild terrain, but too much pitch pine and too large hardwoods. Actually the best cover I saw today was along the road on the top ridge - gophers, but not extended. Very steep ridges, down and down to bottomland. One gopher and in bottom. #2 well from pines on edge of the big bottomland at old house. Had just shot a grand double brace -

Brian pointing, Redruff backing - misses - but empty. Could have bear the bird that had been in there. Chasing the stuff shoulder & follow, Ray now a large roost, then after crossing hollow head toward the main road, Redruff made a early front and was last flushed far ahead.

Redruff fronts with style - very high on both ends on the empty hints - stretched-out on the products of a gun expressed with his very high tail and style. Clyde has too much weight on Redruff -

contributing to his heavy appearance. He is larger than Brian but would suffer with less weight. Head beautiful but less scented than when we saw him in October - strange. Is it all the weight? I don't think so. Also doesn't have enough daylight under him. But he has style and beauty. Some question of rear end still in my mind. And Clyde should read "Worth requires" & "The Pointer Point" and that Redruff doesn't handle with ease but needs to be run out from empty ponds. He is a good dog and early disposition. We reached the mud road and climbed higher to the Blazer - a real hard hunt, and this one in poor cover - and scrabbling. Are all the good in peoples' heads?

Drove home via Glenville to I79, arriving home at 9:50 pm.

Tired.

Friday 13 February

Cloudy, breezy, 50°
 $3\frac{1}{4}$ hrs.

Snow gone.

After the "western ridings," this looks so good
it is a pleasure to hunt even with almost no birds. We parked at the

Matthews/Humberson

mowed 2 not mow - 3

o

Brian: 1 bird.

Excellent work, tried no hard; one "mobil" that was empty but beautiful.

"worn corner" with liquid manure being applied in next field, and hunted the Humberson workings across upper tier. At one area Brian but scat and worked it perfectly, head stretched out, crawling, but no bird materialized. But what a thrill. Further on, he had a productive ahead, and I struggled over the rough path. ~~in getting back to the house~~



MOBILE ACTION ON SCENT

go out - down over the ridge.

We worked to the south end and there, for some odd reason, Brian did not locate a grouse that flushed behind him and crossed into the rhododendron cover on the far side of the fence. The flush ~~was~~ across a clear area - sent shot if I had been 15 yards closer. We followed and Kay walked into it, a flush, visible but close, from a large rhododendron.

Doubling back the Hamblen terrain below the ledge, we then worked into Paul Mathews land - excellent cuttings - respondent but found nothing all the way to the back fields except 3 of the Mathews puffs, the smaller following us long after the others gave up at the end, and we had to drop the little rascal off at Paul's house on our way home.

This was a disappointing hunt in grand cover, but very much fair for this year. Brian - and we - tried no hard. Hunted till quarter to six.

Donald Moyers / Brown Plains

Brian: 1 puf.

Saturday 14 February
sunny, perfect, 40°
3 hrs.

found 3 new - 5 flushed

Another grand day and good to excellent cover. Parked at Donald Moyers corner at Ft. Morris flat but had to fly down south to powerline - damp, quiet, cool. No birds. Followed ~~powerline~~, then on and ~~better~~ along George Bird Evans Papers
West Virginia and Regional History Center

the Brown place and scored the first grouse late in the afternoon - a wild fowl probably from Brown. Following the flock we got a second ring, with no point! and continued west in the bottomland that looked like Muskegan swamps - tangles of blowdowns and jumbled thicket. Brown suddenly wheeled left a few yards in front of us and made a fast dash into a huge tangle of blowdowns but the gun went out the far side after several half-second shots, giving me no shot. Moments later, Kay heard a second bird. We counted them both now, following in the general direction of the original flock - west. In large woods, Kay heard a ruffed - wild and unseen - from one of them. That was it. Back in the thorn and crab bottom adjacent to a grand hillock of scattered thorns (look back for 'cork sometime!') Kay descended a beautiful drumming log, loaded with relatively fresh droppings in 3 or 4 piles. She took several 35 mm. shots of the log with Brown, the Purdey, and the droppings set off with vivid green moss - should be a fine photo.

We hunted back to the road and to Donald's barn and via the woods with excellent grapevine cover to the car. Descamajing excited for the air contact. They bird. That 3 grouse would seem an event!

Tuesday 17 February

Cherry Plum

Brian

85

Sunny, perfect, clouding 5°^o moved 1 net new - 1
3 hrs.

3 AM.

As the season draws to a close and this fine weather opens, we go to cover as nearly ideal as we can find. It is especially frustrating, in such perfect setting and under such optimum conditions, to find almost no game.

to find almost no game.

Today we returned to this really great place, knowing as best as
we can that we saw two quail last time. Today we circled the first
open area near the road with no action, then hunted up the left
side of Cherry Run (I say found a lovely nearly dried antler at
the bridge - 3 points, with the separation at the base showing pink, the
antler highly polished from rubbing). Working up onto the
hillsides that has always intrigued me, we came to good thorn/crab
and brush cover on top. I worked Brian up over to get it through
coverage, and they stayed just over the bank on the hillsides I had
left. Standing on a path for a minute or so waiting for me, they
had a quail peep from behind here, a few yards below,
marking it down toward the stream - and probably over. We are
lucky we missed - I should put a bell on Lucy and shoot her!
End of walk. I will walk home the road. On the way

Hunted up the far hillsides, paralleling the road, the
Brice made an empty front with leisurely work in tractily the
area along a small ravine with brush fully when he had done the
round earlier in the season. Are there wild feathers? On that day they
was tracking more than should grows tracks. Today we hunted upon old
log road with a small ~~tree~~^{tree} - ~~log~~^{fallen} and naked here

86

right arm and pants leg but no injury. Had to go well
up to get across rocks & shale bank to reach the Custer Road.
Tried clearing at bottom over road - a good hunt! but it was a
rabbit. I almost shot it! Pon Brian! pon me! pon Kay!

Thursday 19 February

Edelman Place / Rehoboth

Brian: 2 prod!

Sunny, perfect, but wind,
changing at Mt. Storm to 50° - most 2' cork! - 2
cloudy, rain, gale wind. 2½ hrs

The stormy skies closed in as we drove them
Mt. Storm but we went on to the Edelman Place and parked at the
old house that looked more forlorn than usual in this gale wind and
gray sky setting. As we started down the familiar old road
below the gate, Brian couldn't resist investigating the far rock
from thru the fence, then running back headed to the left and
pointed. The high wind was in his face and there was only
a few feet between him and the fence, too high at that spot &
step over. The bird had to be behind one of the separate large trees
trunks for the ground was open. Kay was taking both mous & 35 mm
film of the point, running out of *Ectachrome* film on the latter. Finally,
I moved quickly up to the left along the fence to a low section,
slipped over and circled in on Brian, still pointing, feeling it
couldn't be a grouse lying that tight, yet unable to believe it could
be a 'cork' on February 19th. It was, a hen that flushed in a
near left quartering "shot" that I wanted and pointed at, convinced



AT THE FENCE

it would have dropped had I fired. Brian held until I sent him on — I don't know when he cleared the fence. The call pitched down into the clump of cover around the giant heart tree but we did not release it. It is hard to estimate how such an experience exhilarates you — Kay, me, and above all Brian, who was obviously delighted. He hunted with a lift all afternoon that did me good to see. We all needed that. There was, however, no signs of the first grouse we had seen before. We had to turn back because of high winds and heavy rain showers and conditions were bad.

at the car, we decided to stop in at Rohrbaugh as the rain had stopped and the sun came out in a March-like manner. Hurrying into the thorns, Brian began racking them as he always does but today there was nothing there, nor on the back edge along the road where we've never the grouse. Finally, with time elbowing us, ^{to} turned back at the "inlet"

Thomas and Kay took the edge road while I circled deeper with Bruin. After a long separation, I came out on the edge and made contact with Kay, who reached for the car while I made a last effort up along the hedgerow where we've had much action. Today knowing it would be empty unless I awoke Evans.

The wind was very high, and I worked up the left edge - then found Bruin porcuping from the hedgerow out toward my side. He held as I walked closer, praying for a gunner, then nothing as I drew closer and, just as I sat in front of Bruin a mall cock climbed up almost from my lots topped out over my head and circled back toward the big woods. Again I mounted and held nearly right - just below - as you always know it is when you don't pull the trigger, and the lovely little thing flickered on - a great experience. This time Bruin broke at wing and shot him a great reward yards along — you can't blame him for that much. It was too bad Kay wasn't there ~~and~~ ^{when} ~~out~~ of the car.

It is a pitiful commentary on the quality of our grouse shooting in this state when two ~~producers~~ on overlook make the day out of grouse. And yet they did, and even at the high mark in such when we didn't get even that, they are ~~producers~~ or ~~runts~~ when we didn't get even that, they are ~~producers~~ or ~~runts~~ now on the day after being so indefinite and doubtful.

Now as I say above with a fine glow having tested again the But as I say above with a fine glow having tested again the numerous quality of them not shown carts, and I can't have next season come over enough. ~~I say no elated I drat our hens via~~
RT 48 from RT 219 ~~a stupid impulse that was 20 miles longer!~~

Pavia Place

Brown: 1 bird.

Friday 20 February

nest 2 - 2

0

Cloudy, sunny. 45°
 $2\frac{3}{4}$ hrs.

Return to a great piece of cover. Pavia's ~~hens~~, house empty but the first old week - Foster Place -

was occupied by a young couple - Piper. Promised but thoroughly pathetic - the girl awaiting a baby next sunny, making do with a guinea fowl and two pups.

This cover is about perfect if thick regrowth with grapevines and ~~greenbrier~~ is good. Heard an queen from grapevines - no shot - Run elsewhere - Hunted all the way to an overlook where we could see Huddy Creek Valley + Smoky mountains. Very discouraging to Pavia as well as us with not even a call to her fin. Finally, depressed and groggy, we hunted up steady hillside and saw her in front well along. I tried to reach her but ~~had~~ that she heard a flush. We'll consult, for we don't have much ~~to go with this and the 12 birds as~~ let down as we were last yesterday.

Tuesday 24 February

Mild, sunny, beautiful 54°
3 hrs.

Ray Gutierrez / Rude Place

(90)

moved 4 - 4

2 shots - 0

Brian: 2 prod.

Back to revisit a beautiful covert after missing last season. We parked at the forks of the more recent lane to the abandoned Gutierrez place (Hugh Beagle) and saw that Mrs. Rude has built a new little house just above.

Heated down the slope then good, if a bit large, cover to the powerline with extensive hemlock/hardwood cover to the little sandy. Brian hit once on the lower margin of the right-of-way, working it in mobile manner, then disappearing in the dense cover on the edge, where Kay found him on point. I worked around his right to a slight view of the situation. The birds held well, but gave me no open shots, the first straightforward behind thicket, the second a ^{widely} right-quartering flash that I fired at too far out among trees and missed, and the third a close right-crosser that disappeared after a flash glimmered between trunks. For a moment I thought there had been more, it seemed so unreal after so long a time since a multiple flash. Brian was ecstatic and I was a good moment — the shot having been no shot to have tried.

Followed #1 up the woods edge but the Brian acted as if he'd seen a bird go, I can't count it. No others. Hunted the deep hemlocks back to the site of flash, then ~~south~~ south along the powerline. Brian gave a ~~startling performance~~ at one good area of rocks and some low cover ~~but the~~ & worked steadily, hunting

momentarily, he made clear the bird was no longer there. (91)
We worked into the long hemlock hollow below the Frogtown house —
steep — and to the top, which has grown up into fine thick cover with
paperines and greenbrier and edges but showing us no birds.

Tired and a bit discouraged, we walked the old road back past
the Och Frankhauser place, Mrs. Pudis new house, and to the car,
when we took a breath at 4:30 for some coffee etc. Then in the
cool of a lovely, still sunny afternoon, we hunted the wonderful
paperines on the east side of the road. Brian had scat soon and
began working rapidly, going a bit too much to ground but his
results were above reproach, for, striking hot scent, he broke into a
dashing run straightaway, and as I was alert & silent, slammed
into an end-over point with head to the left and the grass obviously
under his nose.



END-OVER IN GRAPEVINES.

He was 60 yards ahead and I started running to him over the rocky footing but
the bird wasn't having it. I saw Brian break in as the bird started — I can
hardly blame him — and for a moment I saw the grass climbing vertically and,
I thought coming my way. But it was going away and at what had to be at
least 40 yards or more I forced it ^{George Bird Evans Papers} ~~against the sky~~ ^{of course it} West Virginia and Regional History Center

(92)

went on. at those times I ask for breaks I would normally not want - a wild hut beyond reason - and at those times I almost never get them. If it weren't for the lack of chances, these marmos wouldn't hurt so badly. The birds should not be taken out, scarce as they are, but I wanted that bird so much.

It was too late to follow and we were tired, and ~~wanted~~ ^{worked} the upper cover back to the car. It is a great cover and a pleasure to come back to and the action was at least something with two superb productives by Brian

Thursday 26 February

Cloudy, hot, 60°
2 1/2 hrs.

Plum Place

moved 1 - 2
o

Brian

This cover draws me back without ever proving productive. We hunted the gird cover below the house toward the Mary Dixon Line (the best cover is in Pennsylvania and we must try that some year) with no results. Brian worked below the pond bay saw a jeep drift past the house and back the road where we planned to hunt. Going on as planned, we descended their tire tracks showing they had driven all the way back (no doubt the Pennsylvania hunting Jim Bennett reported as there a week or earlier). We were in the grown-up clearing on the right - Brian working beautifully in spite of the heat, and I saw a wild fawn at the far edge - no relation to Brian - going across the road and above. We followed and Brian walked toward the dense stand of pines and Kay heard a grown fawn near him, possibly from the

(93)

pines. We hunted to the upper edge of the plantation where we found tree tops cut — some with no logs taken — within a year or so, forming good cover. all this cover is borderline fine grass cover, having been cut over recent years with grainaries and some few grapevines, but the grass are not here when we come. Jim Bennett "forgot to tell me" that his animal had flushed a "covey of grouse" from the pines beyond the house during the many snows several weeks before. I feel there is hunting too often by Pheasant hunters who discover it along the firs. Disabllimating. Came home via Fair Forks and Wright road rather than confront the awful conditions on the Clifton road.

Friday 27 February

sunny, coolish, 60°+

3 hrs.

Ray Guttridge / Park

road 2 (new) - 3 flushes

1 shot - 0

Pheas: 2 flushed

Return to the fine place, parking & hunting as before but today removed Brown electronic collar and bell as we approached the pines. I have found the grouse no extremely spooky we find even the dog bell flushes them wild. And this seems particularly inclined to keep in contact with us, as then he could hear us without the bell at his ears, and certainly he responds to us with regards better this way. But with game so scarce than are times he was out to only in search of birds and as are the collar & removed him of his prey.

He seemed to recognize, which of course he did, the area where he found the three quail on Tuesday, but today they were not to be found.

Before going north on the ~~old~~ ^{old} ~~frontage~~ ^{as planned} worked River road

The place in the right-of-way where he had worked the recent so
intensely last time. Again, Pheasant remembered and began to search
carefully. Shortly, I discovered him pecking in the sandstone ledge above
the right-of-way, working steadily from point to point and headed
toward the dense hemlock cover beyond. I hurried toward him and saw
the grouse kept low, a mere flash of sunlight in deep shadows. Pheasant
moved on and was soon on point again, this time in rocks and pearly
an ways
as the hemlock hillsides. I felt it was the same grouse and worked into the
cover to reach Pheasant. As I did, I cry called "grouse!" from the
right-of-way below me, where she had seen our bird leave the
woods and cross the porcupine about seventy yards ~~back~~ beyond us.
It was hopeless to follow but had no doubt crossed the hemlock
to the far side of Little Sandy.
I back intending to hunt the porcupine north, but

We turned back, intending to hunt the porcupines north, but
crossing the thin stand of woods on the upper edge below the old Guillini
house, standing abandoned against the sky. We moved to an enormous
oak that attracted us — a huge black (or red) oak that was
nearly as large in girth as our American white oak. We took a
couple of 35 mm. shots with Key & Peix at the tree, and one with
Peix and me — b.d.w. . then all home nearly.

It was a nice corner, rather open woods - probably a pasture once
with the giant black oak a shade tree for cattle - with a few
paper-wine tangles and thickets of *thornes*. ~~at the north end, a little~~
George Bird Evans Papers
West Virginia and Regional History Center

(95)

depression, that one time was the road to the Old Bush Church, now in a stand of blackberry canes, a few thorns and a fallen may with the grasses of the prairie right of way beyond. This went "fragrant" but instead of hunting, just moved the ground with his tail thrashing. I stepped to the right to go around, feeling a would hunt if a bird was there, and nearly stepped on a grouse that flushed out fast to my right and quivered left rising into the air more open of the right of way. I saw it more clearly than any bird I'd seen this year, mounted and fired, going then I knew it would fall, yet as I pulled the trigger felt supper, and knew it would fall, yet as I pulled the trigger felt the bird veering right but couldn't do anything but complete the action. The grouse landed right and down over the hillside and was gone so fast I couldn't see the second bird. I think that never did more to disappoint me than any I can remember. I haven't had a shot like that for years, has had so few chances at all this season, and has flushed so many shots it is nearly more than I can take at such times. I know the birds should not be shot, and I don't do few, but just one I'd like to complete a good clean kill, for it would have wiped away all the bitterness of this poorest of seasons in that strange way that failures can be erased. But this just drove it in deeper.

May was no understanding; *Bryan Clegg* for his left



searching the hillsides, certain ways should have warned that another nothing was suggested in his manner that he could and should have pointed it!

We followed the line of flight almost along the Old Braddock trail road and at the right distance Penn gave us hope by pointing and trailing, as on a running bird, but this he handled it carefully, nothing came of it.

Cover four along the right-of-way, and we hunted back the good quailmen over along the road and to the car where we rested as before and then our men hunted both sides of the road but with no action. This is a good cover. Let's hope them birds reproduce. I count the one present a new one; the mated bird, one of the two

~~~~~ -

Last Day  
Saturday 28 February

Hot, sunny, 65°  
 $3\frac{1}{2}$  hrs.

Muddy Creek

award 1 - 1

1st - 0

portion at end in 9

Prison:

(7)

This day, if nothing else, proved that we are in grand condition, and that there is darker regrowth cover in abundance in our country — and that it doesn't mean there will be grass there.

We drove first to Lenoir intending to try the cutaway hillside back of Henry & May's but abandoned the idea when we saw, from the paved road, how open it appears. Another few years may do it. Deciding upon the Selt place and Muddy Creek, we drove the Carter School road — excellent drive — stopped at Selt for a chat and parked, hunting back around the shoulder into almost ideal cover — old regrowth fields and timbered clearings. The storm of December 1st, 1974 has altered this to a jumble of blowdowns, masses of trees of varying sizes lying parallel in stacks that seemed to all fall across any trees of path that existed. Once around the shoulder, we tried to follow an old log road full of shoulders — high blackberry canes and crossed with blowdowns, requiring crawling thru as much as pushing thru. There was <sup>an</sup> unlimited tangle of saplings about and below (on the steep ridge on the lower side) with scattered clumps of hemlocks 15 or 20 feet high. Bruce tried valiantly to penetrate the briars but could do little. At George Bird Evans Papers

(98)  
75

passed. I suppose I heard it but was ~~part~~<sup>more</sup> ~~away~~ of the bird against  
the sky not over 15 yards from me. Very impulsive mount and fire  
was about as I would have done it if I'd had time to think, and for  
a moment I thought you would feel, but it rolled into a pitch down on  
what is one of the steepest ridge I know. Kay, too, that it flushed and  
we had lots of looking around both the valley and tried to narrow the  
area for a careful search. Of course we never got to it, and I hope it  
was a clean miss, tho' I don't know how anyone who can lift a gun  
could have missed it - probably, along with yesterday's opportunity, one of  
the best misses I've had of a grouse in years.

I am using the Winchester buck load ("Upland loads") and I  
don't think they do anything for my breeding other than foul the barrel  
with more flakes of lead than anything else. I try, and try them the  
nights, to understand why I am missing shots like those too. I  
do not have time to focus first and then mount, as I used to, and I  
wonder if it is my impaired hearing that is doing this - I almost  
never get the warning flush around in time to be alerted before the  
bird appears as formerly, and so the shot is a hurried attempt  
fired almost at the moment the bird is ~~up~~ <sup>up</sup> and raised, no way to  
hit grouse. Yet I could see that grouse well enough & Monroe started ruff.



We finally came to a cutting that was a year or so older but still thick and rested at the head of a steep ravine. The new stripmine upheaval was above us with a field road obviously leading back to the salt barns - and the Ralph timbered almost bare was stripped.

Scrambling along the base of the spoilbank we came to an old wood road with excellent grassy cover above and below, among stonyings, but this seemed so promising, we moved on. Finally found a eat just short of an abandoned farmplace with grownup fields.

Working to reach the valley and walk upstream along Hardscrabble Creek to the Jenkins cabin in hope of finding our owners at the base of the ridge, we climbed down a steep ravine that seemed familiar from years ago, crossed to the far side and near the bottom came to a good log road leading along the ridge. First, except for more and more boulders. Of all the results of this man's stone, I have seen nothing like the total effect in this valley with the steep south ridge complete in the effect of no vertical trees remaining. All trees, large and medium are lying pointed down the ridgeside, ~~shading the log roads~~. We had turned

175

To a parallel lower road, then gave up and returned to the upper road, not much better, crawling over the crosswise trunks and branches and finally came to where the road ended at its original beginning.

There was no way but straight up, the creek being at the base of the ridge with no place to find footing. The climb was nearly vertical and we took it with deliberate effort, "pacing" ourselves if you can call vertical crawling "pacing". The slow progress was more like climbing a ladder, with <sup>a scanty</sup> hold on saplings, about all that hadn't broken over. I remember lots of shield fern, and Brian peering <sup>back</sup> down at us with his ears hanging forward around his face, and at one place, looking back to see if Kay was all right and seeing the top of her cap. It takes a real girl and a fair man to make a climb like that, with a 15,000 gun and two cameras. We topped out below the ridgeline wallbank and at the old fields' edge stopped for a breath and a bite of food.

Doing this is an adventure, ~~and~~ something we won't forget — for we could have been caught in that valley an hour later with problems.

But to have no gun (I am an old roost in a declivity on the steep hillside like a falcon's eyrie) which would have made it all so different, is disheartening. But looking we heard some of Kay's moans of this reason and I was <sup>shocked by</sup> struck with my gaunt and empty expression, actually that of a sick man — a bit shocking — and I realized I had gone

Monday 8 March  
Perfect day, cool,  
sunny changing to  
light overcast

4:00 - 5:45 1  $\frac{3}{4}$  hr.

Hunting Hills

Moved 8 chuckars - 10  
moved 1 woodcock  
5 shots - 4 hits

Brian: 1 perd. cock  
4 perd. quail  
6 perd. chuckars  
4 ret. "

This was a nice release from tensions built up by frustrations of the grouse season. We drove via RT 48 & 979 and started hunting at 4:00 pm., chuckars having been put out earlier. Brian was wildly enthusiastic and rode when started above Sevier's house, and reached at least 200 yards up onto the hillside. Out of our sight, we saw him went on point and after some startling and waiting — we didn't want to walk into any birds without him — as saw a chukar sail toward us from Brian's direction and play down into the ravine near the road. Brian came onto the scene in pursuit and I accused him of bumping, but later, having seen how these chuckars was refusing to hold, I suspect he'd pointed and had the bird walk out on him and left. Continuing in our original direction, we saw Brian cast back for the third time toward the area of the flushed and I was making derogatory comments when I saw him on point against a grassy hillside near a clump of corn. Hurrying to him I waited as he reestablished, finally going wild, and saw a chukar undolled <sup>a few</sup> yards in front of him. The bird flushed as I walked to it, flying in a left-quartering angle off the hill and over Brian. I fired and to my

amazement missed, then fired again as the bird landed, this time seeing it settle gradually into the lower edge of the field with Bruin in close pursuit. The bird got off the ground a few feet then came down and started running, but Bruin soon had it and brought it in a long retreat to us, laying it down several feet from me without of delivering it round. The chicken was still alive (soft mouth) and was a large bird in the ground but I caught & despatched it - an exceptionally large bird.

If hadn't been a distinguished bit of shooting (still ragged) and Bruin's break at shot matched my performance but between us we collected the bird. Kay had been taking  $35\text{ mm}$  cold shots but had no retreats work with. Meanwhile, Bruin, in a frenzy of overstimulation, had pushed on over a low brow of the field and moments later #3 Chukar came overhead with Bruin pulling up just before overrunning us, as we watched the bird go off the plateau into the east.

With a feeling of considerable loss of self-esteem in me and my dog, we hunkled around the shoulder to where we saw Bruin run out of chicken at the corner of woods in a ravine above us. Kay marked the bird out ahead to a band of green grass on the next shoulder our distance ahead. The bird's very strong flier. At this moment, Bruin made a lowly point near the same portion of thicket edge, holding steadily as I walked to him, only to see the chicken moving out from his point and walking into the thicket. There was no easy way to get

104

up, and while Kay debated going later the bird kept  
going away down through small woods. Thru him with Brum, who saw it,  
holding perfectly. In a hope he might catch and fire it, I dashed  
him on but his mind said another drupple (my bad shooting earlier)  
and he dashed for it and put it up in a flushed out the far edge  
and around the hill after #3.

Rather than run the cover on top, we passed up following  
#4 Kay had marked to wait for later, and climbed the steep hillside  
to a good wild turkey cover on the edge of woods on top dry ridge where we  
promised to eat a bit of lunch. It was a glorious day and lovely to  
be out with a gun but it wasn't exactly the way I'd planned it.  
We had started Brum without the electronic collar but had felt the  
need to put it on him after the first burst of rays; and now, decided  
the local bell on the collar might be putting these precious birds up wild.  
After lunch, we walked him without the collar, which had for the first time  
failed to function, tho it has been getting weaker recently. Without the  
bell, Brum works now in contact, seeming fully able to locate us  
by sound as we move them cover. Now he was walking ground scat on the  
dry ridge as we moved them cover. Now he was walking ground scat on the  
edge ridge in thick woods and soon I saw him a point  
in a small grassy area, but with invisible style - his tail hanging  
and in a low crouch. Certain it was a pheasant I moved to him and  
flew him a woodcock. I think this suggests an interesting psychology,  
for Brum would not point 'cock in that manner. But here as a pheasant,  
with few scared birds, he expected most of the game, especially with the

bad results so far.

Turning Brian back over the top, we hunted down a gas pipeline right away to the general area of the #4 flushed. As we neared it, we heard someone calling in the distance. I suggested it was Roy trying to reach us but Kay assured me it was someone calling stock on the next farm. However, it turned out to be Roy, who came to us when we wanted and after a few moments of conversation revealed that Brian was pointing just beyond a fringe of shrub. It was a fine point, upstanding, tail not high but well out and I walked to find the chuckar, which was beginning to walk out, with a sense of uncertainty after my last poor shots. The bird lifted and bore out over the hill in a straightaway that I let get out about 25 or 30 yards and centered beautifully, the bird spinning down from a shower of feathers. Brian broke and retrieved it nicely, but quickly bound however. Real I didn't mind, for there was that sense of confidence again after no bag a limit.

Walking on out the field strips, we saw Brian wheel in full stride and point, turned to the right.



He didn't miss a hair but long before we could get to him, the chuckar lifted and left the area. What seemed only a minute or so later,

*Brian was front again,*  
George Bird Evans Papers  
West Virginia and Regional History Center

near a few thin trees on the edge of a strip. I signaled to Kay to get to him from below, any shot from behind being into the lower wing, but again the birds failed to hold and a brace flushed right-crossing ahead of him. They were well out but I fired at the upper one at about 40 yards and dropped it nicely from a puff of feathers, Roy saying, "Nice shot, George." Brian went to it and retrieved, again putting the bird down over a twist on the way in, and not all the way to hand. Roy suggested that he might not like chickens.

They had marked the other bird of the brace and it took several casts for Brian to hit it, the brush wind having its effect, but soon he was on point headed toward me in a strip of coarse grass. Kay set behind Brian to get a photo of both of us, and I flushed the bird and again, waiting till it was out about 25 or 30 yards, dropped it going away. Again Brian odds and retrieved. I'll let him get by about this and it will take the collar to make him sound again. But I can understand.

I learned a lot about my shooting today. I have not been letting birds get out far enough to have a good deliberate focus on them, and to have a fair amount of pattern. These 20/50 barrels are too tight for the close shooting or 'cork and close grain' shots, but given a bit of distance can be counted on to function well. It did me good to learn this, but I'm going to have to do something about gaining the <sup>right</sup> patterns on the other pair of barrels — a problem.

We walked back to the house leisurely with a pleasant fullness (107)  
in my game vest. At the house, Roy suggested releasing my quail he  
had them for a few points — I unloaded the gun — and I dug  
forth the roll of Kodachrome 64 she'd put in when we started, with  
Eva in four points. Some problem with the quail lying too tight and  
uncertainty as to their fate if they flattened under the fire, but we  
managed, finally dragging the hen fellow back to the car, for he would have  
left freezing them all night. It was a pleasant day. Roy is more than  
kind — refusing payment but I finally managed to pay for them at cost to him:  
83 per chicken. His shooting grounds are nice, no Xmas trees in fields,  
and the birds are put out well scattered. altogether a grand afternoon.  
Visited the kennels before leaving <sup>30 dogs!</sup> Saw Prisoner Barney — doing well,  
Roy says.

1975 Weekly Log

| DAYS    | HRS    | BIRDS - FLUSHES<br>(GROUSE) | SHOTS-HITS | BRVAR<br>PROD-KILLS-RET.    | WOODCOCK<br>BIRDS-FLUSHES / SHOTS/HITS |
|---------|--------|-----------------------------|------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------------------|
| 5       | 13 1/4 | 8 - 8                       | 4 - 1      | 2 1 1                       | 31 - 37 6 - 2                          |
|         |        |                             |            | 9 2 3                       |                                        |
|         |        |                             |            |                             | 10/11 - 10/18                          |
|         |        | MICHIGAN                    |            |                             |                                        |
| 8(K6)   | 21 1/4 | 33 - 37                     | 3 - 2①     | 10 2① 2<br>7 3 2            | 21 - 25 4 - 3                          |
|         |        |                             |            |                             | 10/25 - 11/2                           |
| 13(K11) | 34 1/2 | 41 - 45                     | 7 - 3①     | 12 3① 3<br>16 5 4           | 52 - 62 10 - 5                         |
| 2       | 6 1/4  | 6 - 6                       | 1 - 0      | 12 3① 3<br>6 2 2            | 12 - 13 4 - 2                          |
| 15(K13) | 40 3/4 | 47 - 51                     | 8 - 3①     | 12 3① 3<br>64 - 75          | 14 - 7                                 |
| 3       | 9 1/4  | 8 - 10                      | 1 - 0      | 22 7 6<br>3 - -             | then 11/8                              |
| 8(8/16) | 50     | 55 - 57                     | 9 - 3①     | 8 2 2<br>15 3① 3            | 10 - 11 6 - 2                          |
|         |        |                             |            | 30 9 8<br>74 - 86           | 20 - 9                                 |
| 4       | 13 1/2 | 4 - 17                      | 5 - 1      | 8 - 1 - 1<br>9 - 2 - 2      | then 11/15                             |
| 22(20)  | 63 1/2 | 59 - 74                     | 14 - 4①    | 10 - 12<br>84 - 98          | 6 - 2                                  |
|         |        |                             |            | 23 - 4① - 4<br>39 - 11 - 10 | 26 - 11                                |
| 5       | 13     | 8 - 16                      | 3 - ①      | 3 ① - 1                     | then 11/22                             |
| 7(25K)  | 76 1/2 | 67 - 90                     | 17 - 5②    | 26 5② - 5                   | then 11/29                             |

25 COVERTS INCL. MICH.

$$67 \text{ orouse} = 2.68 \text{ bird fluent}$$

18 COURTS W.V. & PA

34 CROUSE = 1.88 bird/count

# DEER SEASON

W.V. 13 COUNTS W.V.  
21 GRAYLE 162

W.V. 21 GROUSE 1.62 bird/circuit

PA. ( 5 COVERTS  
13 GROUSE 2.6 bird/cover

WICHT. ( 7 COOTS MICH.  
33 GROUSE 4.71 bird / count

| DAKS                                      | HRS.             | GROUSE - FLUSHES                   | SITOTS - HITS                                           | PROD. KILLS - RET                                           |
|-------------------------------------------|------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|
| 3                                         | $8\frac{3}{4}$   | $\underline{\underline{2 - 4}}$    | $\underline{\underline{2 - 1}}$                         | $\underline{\underline{3 \quad 1 \quad 1}}$                 |
| 30(28K)                                   | $85\frac{1}{4}$  | $69 - 94$                          | $19 - 6\textcircled{3}$                                 | $29 \quad 6\textcircled{3} \quad 6$                         |
| then 12/13                                |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |
| 2                                         | $5\frac{3}{4}$   | $\underline{\underline{1 - 5}}$    | $\underline{\underline{2 - 0}}$                         | $\underline{\underline{1}}$                                 |
| 32(30K)                                   | 91               | $\underline{\underline{70 - 99}}$  | $\underline{\underline{21 - 6\textcircled{3}}}$         | $\underline{\underline{30 \quad 6\textcircled{3} \quad 6}}$ |
| then 12/20                                |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |
| 1                                         | $2\frac{1}{2}$   | $\underline{\underline{2 - 2}}$    | $\underline{\underline{1 - 0}}$                         |                                                             |
| 33(31)                                    | $93\frac{1}{2}$  | $72 - 101$                         | $22 - 6\textcircled{3}$                                 | $30 - 6\textcircled{3} \quad 6$                             |
| then 12/27                                |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |
| 1                                         | $2\frac{3}{4}$   | $\underline{\underline{1 - 1}}$    | $\underline{\underline{0}}$                             |                                                             |
| 34                                        | $96\frac{1}{4}$  | $\underline{\underline{73 - 102}}$ |                                                         |                                                             |
| then 1/3/76                               |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |
| 2                                         | $4\frac{1}{2}$   | $\underline{\underline{3 - 5}}$    | $\underline{\underline{0 \quad 2}}$                     |                                                             |
| 36                                        | $100\frac{3}{4}$ | $76 - 107$                         | $22 - 6\textcircled{3} / 32 - 6\textcircled{3} - 6$     | then 1/10                                                   |
| 38                                        | $104\frac{3}{4}$ | $\underline{\underline{76 - 109}}$ | $22 - 6\textcircled{3} \quad 32 - 6\textcircled{3} - 6$ |                                                             |
| then 1/17                                 |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |
| 2                                         | 5                | $\underline{\underline{5 - 5}}$    | $\underline{\underline{0 \quad 0}}$                     |                                                             |
| 40(K38)                                   | $109\frac{3}{4}$ | $81 - 114$                         | $22 - 6\textcircled{3} \quad 32 - 6\textcircled{3} - 6$ | then 1/24                                                   |
| 2                                         | 4                | $\underline{\underline{3 - 3}}$    | $\underline{\underline{0 \quad 0}}$                     |                                                             |
| 42(K40)                                   | $113\frac{3}{4}$ | $84 - 117$                         | $22 - 6\textcircled{3} \quad 32 - 6\textcircled{3} - 6$ | then 2/7                                                    |
| 4                                         | $12\frac{3}{4}$  | $\underline{\underline{13 - 18}}$  | $\underline{\underline{2 - 0}}$                         | $\underline{\underline{5 - 0 - 0}}$                         |
| 46(K44)                                   | $126\frac{1}{2}$ | $97 - 135$                         | $24 - 6\textcircled{3}$                                 | $37 - 6\textcircled{3} - 6$                                 |
| then 2/14                                 |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |
| 3                                         | $8\frac{1}{4}$   | $\underline{\underline{3 - 4}}$    | $\underline{\underline{0}}$                             | $\underline{\underline{1 - 0 - 0}}$                         |
| 49(K46K)                                  | $134\frac{3}{4}$ | $100 - 139$                        | $24 - 6\textcircled{3}$                                 | $38 - 6\textcircled{3} - 6$                                 |
| then 2/21                                 |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |
| 4                                         | 12               | $\underline{\underline{7 - 10}}$   | $\underline{\underline{28 - 6\textcircled{3}}}$         | $\underline{\underline{42 - 6\textcircled{3} - 6}}$         |
| 53(K50)                                   | $116\frac{3}{4}$ | $107 - 149$                        | $28 - 6\textcircled{3}$                                 | $42 - 6\textcircled{3} - 6$                                 |
| West Virginia and Regional History Center |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |
| George Bird Evans Papers                  |                  |                                    |                                                         |                                                             |

|                              | 1953     | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 | 1961 | 1962 | 1963 | 1964 | 1965 | 1966 | 1967 | 1968 |
|------------------------------|----------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Quartering right             | III      | =    | -    | -    | II   | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | II   | III  | III  | III  |
| " high                       | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " low                        | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " leveling                   | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " overhead                   | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " from tree                  | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " rising                     | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " rising acutely             | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| <b>STRAIGHTAWAY LEVELING</b> |          |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Straightaway                 | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " low                        | II - III | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " rising                     | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " rising acutely             | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " overhead                   | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| Away left                    | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " right                      | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " left low                   | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " right low                  | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " left high                  | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " right high                 | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| Incoming                     | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " left                       | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " right                      | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " overhead                   | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " rising                     | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " left rising                | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " right rising               | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " overhead left              | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| " overhead right             | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| <b>AWAY LEFT OVERHEAD</b>    |          |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| " RIGHT                      | -        | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |

|    | 1968 | 1967 | 1966 | 1965 | 1965 | 1964 | 1963 | 1962 | 1961 | hit:            | miss: | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
|----|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|-----------------|-------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| 1- | -    | ≡    | 1=   | =    | 1=   | 11-  | 11-  | 1    | 11-  | crossing left   | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | high            | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | low             | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | leveling        | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | overhead        | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | from tree       | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising          | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising acutely  | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising high     | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| 2- | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | Crossing right  | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | high            | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | low             | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | leveling        | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | overhead        | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | from tree       | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising          | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising acutely  | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| -  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising high     | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | quartering left | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | high            | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | low             | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | leveling        | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | overhead        | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | from tree       | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising          | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising acutely  | =     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |
| "  | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    | rising high     | -     | 1953 | 1954 | 1955 | 1956 | 1957 | 1958 | 1959 | 1960 |

# George Bird Evans Papers

West Virginia and Regional History Center

## TWENTY-YEAR GROUSE POPULATION FLUCTUATIONS

| <u>Year</u>                               | <u>Separate birds</u> | <u>Coverts</u> | <u>Bird/Covert</u> | <u>May 15 through June 30</u> | <u>Total rainfall</u> | <u>Average temperature</u> |
|-------------------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------|--------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|
| '48                                       | 150                   | 23             | <u>6.52</u>        |                               | 9.04"                 | 62°                        |
| '49                                       | 207                   | 23             | <u>9.0</u>         |                               | 5.38"                 | 64°                        |
| '50                                       | 140                   | 22             | <u>6.36</u>        |                               | 11.57"                | 62.7°                      |
| '51                                       | 234                   | 27             | <u>8.66</u>        |                               | 10.92"                | 64.8°                      |
| '52                                       | 181                   | 19             | <u>9.53</u>        |                               | 8.17"                 | 65.1°                      |
| '53                                       | 206                   | 23             | <u>8.96</u>        |                               | 2.45"                 | 66.1°                      |
| '54                                       | 296                   | 26             | <u>11.38</u>       |                               | 5.29"                 | 62.9°                      |
| '55                                       | 285                   | 29             | <u>9.83</u>        |                               | 6.18"                 | 59.6°                      |
| '56                                       | 279                   | 27             | <u>10.33</u>       |                               | 11.68"                | 60.9°                      |
| '57                                       | 221                   | 25             | <u>8.84</u>        |                               | 5.75"                 | 64.9°                      |
| '58                                       | 209                   | 21             | <u>9.95</u>        |                               | 7.83"                 | 60.4°                      |
| '59                                       | 140                   | 18             | <u>7.78</u>        |                               | 3.37"                 | 54.8°                      |
| '60                                       | 131                   | 28             | <u>4.68</u>        |                               | 4.37"                 | 62.4°                      |
| '61                                       | 97                    | 15             | <u>6.47</u>        |                               | 9.44"                 | 58.3°                      |
| '62                                       | 89                    | 19             | <u>4.68</u>        |                               | 3.31"                 | 66.1°                      |
| '63                                       | 58                    | 15             | <u>3.83</u>        |                               | 8.41"                 | 61.1°                      |
| '64                                       | 99                    | 22             | <u>4.5</u>         |                               | 7.16"                 | 62.1°                      |
| '65                                       | 205                   | 29             | <u>7.07</u>        |                               | 2.88"                 | 63.2°                      |
| '66                                       | 214                   | 27             | <u>7.93</u>        |                               | 2.25"                 | 62.7°                      |
| '67                                       | 92                    | 25             | <u>3.68</u>        |                               | 4.24"                 | 61.9°                      |
| '68                                       | 131                   | 30             | <u>4.37</u>        |                               | 12.49"                | 61.7°                      |
| <u>20 year average 7.48<br/>('48-'67)</u> |                       |                |                    | 6.49" (6.24")                 | 62.3°                 |                            |
| '69                                       | 142                   | 27             | <u>5.26</u>        | 2.68"                         | 62.9°                 |                            |
| '70                                       | 140                   | 29             | <u>4.83</u>        | 5.70"                         | 63.9°                 |                            |

|                  | 1969<br>46.7% | 1970<br>33.3% | 1971 | 1972 | 1973 | 1974          |
|------------------|---------------|---------------|------|------|------|---------------|
| CROSSING LEFT    |               |               |      |      |      |               |
| " low            |               |               |      |      |      | wol           |
| " rising         |               |               | =    |      | =    | paiatz        |
| " rising acutely |               |               |      |      |      | Wolnon gaiatz |
| " high           |               | -             | -    | -    | -    | baadzwo       |
| " overhead       |               |               | =    |      |      | sorj merit    |
| " from tree      |               |               |      |      |      | gaiatz        |
| CROSSING RIGHT   | -             | -             |      |      | -    | wol           |
| low              |               |               |      |      |      | paiatz        |
| rising           | -             | -             | -    |      |      | Wolnon gaiatz |
| rising acutely   |               |               |      |      |      | baadzwo       |
| rising acutely   |               |               |      |      |      | gaiatz        |
| high             | -             | -             |      |      |      |               |
| overhead         |               |               |      |      |      |               |
| from tree        |               |               |      |      |      |               |
| QUARTERING LEFT  | -             | :-:           |      |      |      |               |
| low              | -             | :-:           |      |      |      |               |
| rising           | -             | :-:           |      |      |      |               |
| rising acutely   |               | :-:           |      |      |      |               |
| high             | =             |               |      |      |      |               |
| overhead         |               |               |      |      |      |               |
| overhead         |               |               |      |      |      |               |
| from tree        |               |               |      |      |      |               |
| leveling         |               |               |      |      |      |               |
| QUARTERING RIGHT | -             | = -           |      |      | -    | wol           |
| low              | =             | - -           |      |      |      | paiatz        |
| rising           | -             | - -           |      |      |      | baadzwo       |
| rising acutely   | -             | - -           |      |      |      | Wolnon gaiatz |
| high             |               |               | -    |      |      | wol           |
| overhead         | -             | -             |      |      |      | paiatz        |
| from tree        |               |               |      |      |      | baadzwo       |
| leveling         | -             | -             |      |      |      |               |

## STRAIGHTAWAY

|                      | 1969 | 1970 | 1971 | 1972 | 1973 | 1974 |
|----------------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| " low                | ==   |      |      |      |      | ==   |
| " rising             |      | ==   | ==   | ==   | ==   |      |
| " rising acutely     |      |      |      | ==   |      |      |
| " overhead           |      |      |      | -    | =    |      |
| " from tree leveling |      | -    | -    | -    | -    | -    |

## AWAY left

|                     |   |   |   |   |   |   |
|---------------------|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| " low               |   | - |   | - | - | - |
| " rising            | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| " rising acutely    |   |   |   |   |   |   |
| " overhead leveling | - | - | - | - | - | - |

## AWAY right

|                     |   |   |    |    |   |   |
|---------------------|---|---|----|----|---|---|
| " low               |   | - | == |    |   |   |
| " rising            | - | - | -  | -  | - | - |
| " rising acutely    |   |   |    |    |   |   |
| " overhead leveling | - | - | -  | == |   | - |

## INCOMING

|            |   |  |  |  |  |  |
|------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| " low      |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| " rising   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| " overhead | - |  |  |  |  |  |

## INCOMING LEFT

|            |  |   |  |  |  |  |
|------------|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| " low      |  |   |  |  |  |  |
| " rising   |  |   |  |  |  |  |
| " overhead |  | - |  |  |  |  |

## INCOMING RIGHT

|            |  |  |  |   |  |  |
|------------|--|--|--|---|--|--|
| " low      |  |  |  |   |  |  |
| " rising   |  |  |  |   |  |  |
| " overhead |  |  |  | - |  |  |

## TWENTY-YEAR GROUSE POPULATION FLUCTUATIONS.

| <u>Year</u>                                   | <u>Separate birds</u>    | <u>Flushes</u>           | <u>Covets</u>         | <u>Bird/Covet</u> | <u>Rainfall 5/15 to 6/30</u> | <u>Mean temperature</u> |
|-----------------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------|
| '48                                           | 150                      | 267                      | 23                    | <u>6.52</u>       | <u>9.04"</u>                 | <u>62°</u>              |
| '49                                           | 207                      | 399                      | 23                    | <u>9.0</u>        | <u>5.38</u>                  | <u>64°</u>              |
| '50                                           | 140                      | 236                      | 22                    | <u>6.36</u>       | <u>11.57</u>                 | <u>62.7</u>             |
| <del>— BLACKWATER<br/>4 n<br/>MT. STORM</del> | <del>253 -19 (234</del>  | <del>538 -23</del>       | <del>30 -3 (27</del>  | <del>8.43</del>   | <del>6.33</del>              | <del>10.92</del>        |
| '51                                           | <del>198 -17 (181</del>  | <del>466</del>           | <del>23 -4 (19</del>  | <del>8.61</del>   | <del>4.25</del>              | <del>64.8</del>         |
| '52                                           | <del>206 -17</del>       | <del>344</del>           | <del>23</del>         | <del>8.96</del>   | <del>2.45</del>              | <del>65.1</del>         |
| '53                                           | <del>303 -7 (296</del>   | <del>581 -8 (573</del>   | <del>27 -1 (26</del>  | <del>11.22</del>  | <del>1.</del>                | <del>5.29</del>         |
| '54                                           | <del>299 -14 (285</del>  | <del>559 -17 (542</del>  | <del>31 -2 (29</del>  | <del>9.64</del>   | <del>7.0</del>               | <del>6.18</del>         |
| '55                                           | <del>280 -1 (279</del>   | <del>494 -1 (493</del>   | <del>28 -1 (27</del>  | <del>10.0</del>   | <del>1.</del>                | <del>11.68</del>        |
| <del>goat in Stony R. —</del>                 | <del>258 -37 (221</del>  | <del>495 -68 (427</del>  | <del>28 -3 (25</del>  | <del>9.21</del>   | <del>12.3</del>              | <del>5.75</del>         |
| <del>3 covts</del>                            | <del>226 -17 (209</del>  | <del>412 -22 (390</del>  | <del>23 -2 (21</del>  | <del>9.83</del>   | <del>8.5</del>               | <del>64.9</del>         |
| <del>good Blackwater —</del>                  | <del>214 -74 (140</del>  | <del>403 -142 (261</del> | <del>27 -9 (18</del>  | <del>7.92</del>   | <del>8.22</del>              | <del>3.37</del>         |
| <del>9 covts "</del>                          | <del>251 -120 (131</del> | <del>370 -172 (298</del> | <del>40 -12 (28</del> | <del>6.27</del>   | <del>10.0</del>              | <del>4.37</del>         |
| <del>12 covts</del>                           | <del>151 -54 (97</del>   | <del>252 -77 (175</del>  | <del>28 -13 (15</del> | <del>5.39</del>   | <del>4.15</del>              | <del>9.44</del>         |
| '59                                           | <del>159 -70 (89</del>   | <del>286 -104 (182</del> | <del>31 -12 (19</del> | <del>5.12</del>   | <del>5.83</del>              | <del>3.31</del>         |
| '60                                           | <del>89 -17 (58</del>    | <del>180 -21 (136</del>  | <del>24 -9 (15</del>  | <del>3.0</del>    | <del>1.56</del>              | <del>66.1</del>         |
| '61                                           | <del>153 -14 (99</del>   | <del>290 -68 (208</del>  | <del>46 -16 (22</del> | <del>3.32</del>   | <del>2.5</del>               | <del>7.16</del>         |
| '62                                           | <del>241 -36 (205</del>  | <del>462 -63 (399</del>  | <del>39 -10 (29</del> | <del>6.17</del>   | <del>1.75</del>              | <del>2.88</del>         |
| '63                                           | <del>232 -18 (214</del>  | <del>444 -27 (417</del>  | <del>36 -9 (27</del>  | <del>6.44</del>   | <del>3.6</del>               | <del>63.2</del>         |
| '64                                           | <del>113 -21 (92</del>   | <del>198 -34 (164</del>  | <del>36 -11 (25</del> | <del>3.14</del>   | <del>2.0</del>               | <del>2.25</del>         |
| '65                                           | <del>142 -11 (131</del>  | <del>276 -17 (259</del>  | <del>40 -10 (30</del> | <del>3.55</del>   | <del>1.1</del>               | <del>62.7</del>         |
| '66                                           |                          |                          |                       |                   |                              |                         |
| '67                                           |                          |                          |                       |                   |                              |                         |
| '68                                           |                          |                          |                       |                   |                              |                         |
|                                               |                          |                          |                       |                   |                              |                         |

Inaccuracies in the ten-year cycle theory become more evident with

study and comparison

counting

Though I don't know what methods were used, reports for '67 indicate a 20 year av. 6.49" rainfall

" temp 62.3

a spectacular increase in grouse in Minnesota and Wisconsin during the

dramatic low in West Virginia, Virginia and Pennsylvania. New York reported

a slight increase in '67 over a low in '66, the opposite of the West Virginia

George Bird Evans Papers

populations as I found them. In 1967, Connecticut mentioned his having

West Virginia and Regional History Center

DATA 1975

GEORGE 53 DAYS - 146  $\frac{3}{4}$  HRS.

MAY 50 DAYS

43 COVERTS 2.58 BIRD / COVERT

30 " W.VA. 2.03  
(18 LOCAL 2.0 )  
(12 OTHERS 2.08 )

6 PENNA. 2.83

111 GROUSE - 157 FLUSHES (.93 PER HR) 7 MICHIGAN 4.71

67-90 TO DEC. / 44 - 67 AFTER

28 SHOTS / 6 HITS (3 O.P.) = 21.4 %

84 'COCK - 98 FLUSHES

26 SHOTS - 11 HITS = 42.3 %

BRIAR 6 YRS 9 MO. (7TH SEASON)

53 DAYS

GROUSE 42 PROD.

6 KILLS (3 O.P.)

6 RET.

'COCK 41 PROD.

11 KILLS

10 RET.

LIFETIME '69-'75

423 DAYS

GROUSE 442 PROD

86 KILLS (36 O.P.)

66 RET.

1975

27P1

|                       |                                                                           |                |                                      |
|-----------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------|--------------------------------------|
| <u>LOCAL</u>          | <u>36 mated</u><br><u>51 flushes</u>                                      | <u>34 left</u> | <u>18 coverts = 2.0 bird/convert</u> |
| FT. MORRIS THORNS     | <u>O11</u> 1.1.1 / <u>D12</u> ①.1.1                                       | 2 0            |                                      |
| WILKINSON SAWMILL     | <u>O21</u> 3.3.0                                                          | 3              |                                      |
| MATHEWS/HUMBERSON     | <u>N8</u> 4.4.0 / <u>D8</u> 3①.3.0 / <u>D24</u> ②.2.0 / <u>F13</u> 2.3.0  | 7              |                                      |
| CHERRY RUN            | <u>N15</u> 3.5.0 / <u>D16</u> ①.2.0 / <u>F4</u> 2①.2.0 / <u>F17</u> 1.1.0 | 5              |                                      |
| GLOVER/WRIGHT         | <u>D11</u> 1.0                                                            |                |                                      |
| BISHOP                | <u>J19</u> 3.3.0                                                          | 3              |                                      |
| SUMMERS               | <u>J24</u> 0                                                              |                |                                      |
| LICK RUN SCHOOL       | <u>J24</u> 2.2.0                                                          | 2              |                                      |
| MACK DENNIS SLASHINGS | <u>J26</u> 0                                                              |                |                                      |
| MCMULLEN-STATE LINE   | <u>J26</u> 1.1.0                                                          | 1              |                                      |
| SPURGEON SCHOOL       | <u>FEB 4</u> 1.1.0                                                        | 1              |                                      |
| DONALD MOYERS/BROWN   | <u>FEB 14</u> 3.5.0                                                       | 3              |                                      |
| PAINA                 | <u>F20</u> 2.2.0                                                          | 2              |                                      |
| RAY GUTHRIE/RUDE      | <u>F24</u> 4.4.0 / <u>F27</u> 2①.3.0                                      | 5              |                                      |
| PLUM                  | <u>F26</u> 1.2.0                                                          | 1              |                                      |
| MUDGY CREEK           | <u>F28</u> 1.1.0                                                          | 1              |                                      |

111 grouse mated 105 left 43 coverts = 2.58 bird/convert  
(including Michigan)

157 flushes " "

W.Va & Pa.: 78 grouse 36 coverts = 2.17 bird/convert  
120 flushes

30 days later W.Va.

1975

BLACKWATER      4 mated 3 left      6 courts = 0.66 bird/court

(GATES) 04. 3.3.1/N17.0

GLADE RUN 016. 12.13.1

GATZMER N17. 1.1.0

RIDGE ROAD S. N19.0

" " N. N19. 3.3.1      3 2

A-FRAME N19.0

MASON/ROANE      10 mated  
10 flushed      2 courts = 5.0 bird/court

UPLIFT RIDGE F10. 7.7.0      7

BEAVER DAM HOLLOW F11. 3.3.0      3

MT. STORM      11 mated      4 courts = 2.75 bird/court

REHOBETH 015. 1.1.0. 10.13.0 / N18. (2) 2.0. 3.4.0 / N20. 1.1.0 / D17. 2.2.0 / F19. 1.1.0      3

DAVIS/EDELMAN 018. 6.6.0. 6.8.0 / N11. 4.4.2 / N18. 5.6.0. 1.2.1 / N20. 2.3.0 / D17. 3.3.0

DAVIS (TOP) N6 2.2.0. 12.13.2 / N11. 6.7.0      2      F19.0      6

PENNSYLVANIA      17 mated 16 left      6 courts = 2.83 bird/court

28 flushed      N24.5(2).7.1 /

HENCKEL N13. 5.5.0 / N24.5(2).7.1 / D29. 1.1.0 / J13.0      8 7

FEIKER RUN N25.0 / N29.0

WASHINGTON CO. WEST FINLEY N26. 4.7.0      4

FAR CUCUMBER N28. 2.2.0      2

DINNER BELL N29.0

BROWN HILL J6. 2.2.0 / J7. 1.2.0 / J15. 2.2.0      3

(negative judgment)

7 courts = 4.71 bird/court

MICHIGAN      33 mated 31 left      7 courts = 4.71 bird/court

37 flushed

(7 courts) 33.37.2. 21.25.3      33 31

rooms 85

adults 051